THESIS

THE IMPACT OF WILDFIRE ON AVIAN COMMUNITIES: EXPLORING HABITAT ASSOCIATIONS TWO DECADES AFTER FIRE

Submitted by

Maria Vicini

Department of Forest and Rangeland Stewardship

In partial fulfillment of the requirements

For the Degree of Master of Science

Colorado State University

Fort Collins, Colorado

Fall 2023

Master's Committee:

Advisor: Camille Stevens-Rumann

Paula Fornwalt Jody Vogeler Copyright by Maria Vicini 2023 All Rights Reserved

ABSTRACT

THE IMPACT OF WILDFIRE ON AVIAN COMMUNITIES: EXPLORING HABITAT ASSOCIATIONS TWO DECADES AFTER FIRE

Large high-severity wildfires have been affecting ponderosa pine dominated systems for decades, yet minimal long-term research has been conducted to address how avian species are responding to vegetation recovery and wildfire-driven conversion multiple decades after wildfire in ponderosa pine ecosystems of the southwestern United States. Understanding how community dynamics differ between low- and high-severity portions of burned footprints, and how vegetation structure relates to species presence is crucial for species conservation efforts, especially as wildfires in the western U.S. continue to have larger proportions of high-severity fire compared to historical fires. To address this in the Southwest, our study sought to quantify vegetation recovery, avian community dynamics across low- and high-severity sites, and quantify species-specific relationships with current vegetation structure in two post-fire footprints two decades after fire. This study focused on the Ponil Complex Fire in northern New Mexico and the Hayman Fire in southern Colorado, both of which burned in 2002. We found continued divergence between vegetation recovery at low- and high-severity sites, though this divergence was more pronounced at the Hayman Fire. We found also significant dissimilarities in avian community composition between low- and high-severity sites, and significantly lower species richness at high-severity sites across both wildfires. Forest-associated bird species

presence was associated with more canopy cover and lower severity. Alternatively, lower canopy cover and higher severity were associated with the presence of a variety of grassland-, shrubland-, and desert-associated species. Our findings point to the importance of preserving pyrodiversity on the landscape to maximize suitable habitat for the greatest number of species, especially as it pertains to preserving adequate proportions of low-severity patches for forestassociated species who require intact canopy cover. However, large high-severity patches as the dominant component of the landscape will not support the most diverse array of bird communities 20+ years post fire.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

First, I want to thank my advisor, Dr. Camille Stevens-Rumann, for taking me on as a field technician, and later as a graduate student in the lab. Your support has allowed me to transition into my dream career field, and you've provided me thorough guidance and mentorship every step of the way. I am so grateful you have mentored me!

Thank you to my wonderful committee members, Dr. Jody Vogeler and Dr. Paula Fornwalt, for your guidance. Thank you for your thoughtful feedback and your kindness throughout the whole process! I also want to thank the Transformation Network for allowing me to pursue my dream project with your support, and for exemplifying collaboration in this field.

Thank you to everyone who helped me complete this field work: Ali Goodrich, Sam Gunning, Alex Smilor, Jamie Woolet, and Jackie Edinger. You brought laughter, fun, and hard work to the field, no matter the number of ticks on us. Additionally, thank you to Lee Hughes at Philmont Scout Ranch and Steve Alton at RMRS. You made it possible for me to study these fires and went above and beyond to show your support. I can't thank you enough, Lee, for spending your Saturday evening driving us to and from our campsite when we had a flat tire. Steve, you found a way for us to stay at RMRS both during the 2022 season, and when we needed a place to stay in 2023. Thank you for your flexibility and kind replies.

iv

I want to thank Jamie Woolet, for being a great friend, lab mate, mentor, and bookreading pal. First, you opened my eyes to the wonderful world of birding! Then, you offered support as I developed my own bird-related project, paired with countless times together hiking, climbing, or grabbing coffee. I couldn't ask for a better friend and supporter.

Thank you endlessly to Mikey, my husband, for your love and support throughout this journey. Being away from home for a week at a time is not easy, and you made it possible. Thank you for taking care of the pets, supporting my dreams, and listening to me complain about the woes of R code. I am so lucky to have you as a loving and caring partner throughout life. Thank you as well to my family — Kat, my dad, my mom, and John, for being supportive throughout my grad school journey. Thank you to my pets for keeping me relatively sane. I love you all!

I also want to thank my other lab mates, both past and present, for always providing moral support during my time with the lab. Thank you as well to Gloria Edwards for fun times together during my CSU journey. Thank you to Courtney Peterson for your flexibility and support as I transition into this exciting new position and finish graduate school.

From starting as a field technician to finalizing my thesis, this has been a challenging but always worthwhile journey that was made possible with all your support. As I finish this chapter of my life, I thank you from the bottom of my heart!

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACT	ii
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	iv
CHAPTER 1 – The impact of wildfire on avian communities: exploring habitat associations to decades after fire	wo 1 1
1.2 Methods	7
1.2.1 Study area	7
1.2.2 Site selection	8
1.2.3 Bird surveys	10
1.2.4 Field measurements	11
1.2.5 Statistical analysis	12
1.3 Results	16
1.3.1 Vegetation structure across fire severities	16
1.3.2 Avian community patterns across fire severities	17
1.3.3 Species richness across low- and high-severity sites	19
1.3.4 Habitat associations of frequently observed species	20
1.3.5 Vegetation structures associated with individual species presence	22
1.4 Discussion	23
1.4.1 Overview	23
1.4.2 Influence of severity on species richness	24
1.4.3 Influence of severity on vegetation structure and avian community composition	26
1.4.4 Species-specific habitat associations	29
1.4.5 Management implications	30
1.4.6 Study limitations and additional research needs	31
1.4.7 Conclusions	33
1.5 Tables and figures	35
1.5.1 Tables	35
1.5.2 Figures	45
1.6 References	50

CHAPTER 1 – The impact of wildfire on avian communities: exploring habitat associations two decades after fire

1.1 Introduction

Fires are an essential disturbance for a variety of terrestrial ecosystems across the globe (McLauchlan et al., 2020; Chia et al., 2015). Among the many influences wildfire exerts on ecosystem processes, wildfire shapes landscape heterogeneity through its influence on vegetation structure immediately after and in the decades following wildfire events (Bassett et al., 2017; Chia et al., 2015; Lyon, 2000; McLauchlen et al., 2020). This resulting landscape heterogeneity across burned areas leads to a variety of distinct habitat types for various avian species with different life requisites (Barton et al., 2014; Bassett et al. 2017; Roberts et al., 2020). High-severity patches in close proximity to low- and moderate-severity patches create distinct edge habitats for birds with different habitat requirements, and for species to fulfill the full extent of their foraging and nesting needs across both unburnt and burnt patches on a landscape (Fontaine and Kennedy, 2012; Stillman et al., 2019). Fire directly affects habitat importance for birds by altering the number of surviving mature trees, canopy cover, availability of snags, coarse woody debris, and understory vegetation structure. These factors influence prey abundance, nesting availability, and other factors that contribute to bird survival and reproductive success (George and Zack, 2008; Van Lear and Harlow, 2002). For example, the early seral-environment resulting from high-severity fire serves as a unique habitat type for bird species who require burned patches at different life stages and can lead to an increase in transitory habitat features such as woody debris, snags, and dense shrug cover, along with a short-term increase in prey (Hutto and Patterson, 2016; Smucker et al., 2005).

The influence of fire on wildlife habitat is particularly relevant in ponderosa pine (*Pinus* ponderosa) forests of the southwestern United States, where wildfire is the principal disturbance, and spatial and temporal heterogeneity of wildfire is characteristic of the ecosystem's fire regime (Kaufmann et al., 2006; McKinney, 2019; Odion et al., 2014). Historically, ponderosa pine forests across the Southwest exhibited either a mixed-severity fire regime or primarily low-severity fire regime, depending on the geographical location within the Southwest. Ponderosa pine forests in Colorado, USA, historically exhibited a mixed-severity fire regime, whereas fires in these systems in New Mexico and Arizona historically had a more frequent, low-severity fire regime (Haffey et al., 2018). More specifically, the mixed-severity regime of Colorado ponderosa pine forests were comprised of frequent, low-severity fires (with mean fire interval (MFI) of 30 years or less) at lower elevations, and smaller, more variable, moderate- and high-severity fires occurring less frequently and further upslope (Kaufmann et al., 2005; McKinney, 2019; Woolman et al., 2022). In New Mexico and Arizona, frequent, lowseverity fires historically occurred with some areas of high-severity fire patches in mixed-conifer forest and in areas with heavy fuel accumulations (Fulé et al., 1997; Swetnam and Baisan, 1996). Overall, forests consisted of mixed-age ponderosa pines (Savage and Mast, 2005), with a diverse range of spatial configurations, tree sizes, and varied tree clustering (Brown et al., 2015). This mosaic of patches provided a variety of potential habitat types within a relatively small geographical area (Singleton et al., 2021), and suited a wide variety of avian species adapted to the fire legacy (e.g., Kotliar et al., 2002; Kotliar et al., 2007; Fontaine and Kennedy, 2012; Latif et al., 2016; Vierling and Lentile, 2008).

However, since the later half of the 20th century, the fire regime of these ponderosa pine ecosystems has begun shifting toward larger and higher-severity fires due to a variety of compounding causes (Abatzoglou and Williams, 2016; Cassell et al., 2019; Mueller et al., 2020; Savage et al., 2013; Singleton et al., 2019). Euro-American settlement and the subsequent logging practices and livestock grazing of the late 1800s and early 1900s contributed to dense regeneration of ponderosa pine seedlings and saplings (Baker et al., 2007; Fitzgerald, 2005). At the same time, fire suppression became a main priority of the U.S. Forest Service, when it was established in the early 1900s. In turn, many previously open stands of ponderosa pine forests with only a few large, mature trees transformed into unnaturally dense, even-aged young ponderosa pine stands that contained more fine fuels than their historical counterparts (Baker et al., 2007; Fitzgerald, 2005). These densely-packed forests increased fuels and contributed to larger and higher-severity fires across the Southwest (Covington and Moore, 1994), with minimal research on how these larger, higher-severity fires influence avian community dynamics and species presence in the decades after wildfire in these areas.

Shifting fire regimes, due to land management over the last century, paired with climate change, present potential long-term ramifications for the resilience of ponderosa pine ecosystems and the long-term habitat availability for avian species who depend on forested ecosystems. After wildfire, successful seedling regeneration is critical for ecosystem recovery and resilience. Yet across the US Intermountain west, regeneration success has decreased in the 21st century, with the most dramatic shift in communities occurring in the southwestern US (Davis et al., 2023). As a result of regeneration failure, estimates have found that up to 16% of all ponderosa pine forests across the US intermountain West are at risk of wildfire-driven

conversion under certain climate warming scenarios (Davis et al., 2020; Woolman et al., 2022) which is defined as enduring and substantial change to the landscape, such as a change in the dominant species or vegetation type (Coop et al., 2020). The combination of wildfire-driven conversion and climate change potentially affect suitable avian habitat on multiple scales. At a large-scale, burned areas which experience conversion, paired with the growing impact of climate change, can lead to a geographical mismatch in suitable vegetation structures and climate conditions for forest-associated wildlife, which can lead to niche contraction (Hoecker and Turner, 2022). Species who occupy areas vulnerable to increased wildfire activity and vegetation-type conversion are likely most at-risk of more immediate niche contraction (Hoecker and Turner, 2022). This risk is heightened for habitat specialists who cannot quickly adapt to immediate or pervasive habitat loss (O'Neil et al., 2020).

On a smaller scale, an increase in the area burned by high-severity fire also alters patch configuration and habitat structure across a burned landscape. Pyrodiversity, which is the variability of fire severity across a burn footprint, has been hypothesized to increase avian community diversity (Tingley et al. 2016). Yet as fire regimes shift, previously heterogenous burned footprints with high pyrodiversity and a mix of smaller low-, moderate-, and highseverity patches will become more homogeneous in nature, leading to a larger proportion of high-severity patches outside a range of natural variability (Singleton et al., 2021), influencing how bird species utilize burn footprints after fire (Steel et al., 2021) and reducing overall pyrodiversity. These uncharacteristically large high-severity patches may undermine the benefits that high-severity fire has historically created for certain ponderosa-pine associated avian species, when high-severity patches were close enough to remnant habitat patches that

birds could utilize a variety of habitat types on the landscape. This is especially relevant for bird species that historically experienced mixed benefits from wildfire and have been documented to use contrasting patch types for different behaviors (Latif et al., 2016). For example, birds that nest in pre-existing cavities but forage in live canopy may need both burned and unburned habitat in the vicinity (i.e., these species would select burned habitat for potential snag abundance but select unburned habitat for live foraging opportunities (Latif et al., 2016)). Even burn specialists have been shown to utilize unburned habitat for foraging as juveniles, increasing their burned habitat usage as they mature (Stillman et al., 2019). Researchers who studied this topic in conifer forests of the Sierra Nevada and Southern Cascades found that overall bird community richness decreased as distance to patch edge increased (Steel et al., 2021). Results from Steel et al. (2021) pointed to patch interiors with fewer overall species, in addition to a shift in bird communities from forest-associated to non-forest associated species.

Despite the growing potential for forest-conversion in the Southwest after high-severity wildfire, few datasets exist on how forest and vegetation recovery impacts avian communities and their habitat associations multiple decades after wildfire in southwestern ponderosa pine ecosystems — especially in instances where the landscape does not follow historical recovery trajectories. Research on bird responses to wildfire prior to the early 2000s mostly treated wildfire as a homogenous disturbance, with little regard to fire severity (Hutto and Patterson, 2016). It was not until a study by Smucker et al. (2005) which incorporated severity metrics into the analysis that avian responses across studies became more aligned (Smucker et al., 2005; Hutto and Patterson, 2016). Many southwestern-focused publications that included fire severity metrics in analyses have mostly focused on time periods less than 20 years after fire.

As a result, research in these southwestern ponderosa pine ecosystems which addresses the link between long-term vegetation recovery and avian habitat associations is needed to better understand how vegetation structure is associated with species' presence and community patterns in the decades after wildfire. Understanding avian habitat associations are imperative to understand how avian communities are responding to vegetation succession in the longterm in these ecosystems, and whether these results indicate continued disparity between lowand high-severity burn patches. As "megafires" continue to occur (Stillman et al., 2019), potentially undermining expected recovery pathways and leading to novel habitat characteristics, understanding larger community dynamics are critical. This is especially relevant in southwestern ponderosa pine ecosystems because they are increasingly at risk of wildfiredriven forest conversion as a result of climate change and an increasing proportion of highseverity wildfire (Coop, 2023).

Here we examined two wildfires that burned in 2002. These fires were the Hayman Fire in southern Colorado and the Ponil Complex Fire in northern New Mexico. These fires provided a unique opportunity to study long post-fire periods that, though both burned in an extreme fire year for the Southwest, these wildfires had different patch configurations and proportion of high-severity patches (Hayes and Robeson 2011; Fornwalt et al., 2016; Coop et al., 2019). Specifically, we addressed three major objectives: 1) Determine how avian species richness differs across low- and high-severity sites two decades after fire, 2) Examine how avian community composition and vegetation structures differ across low- and high-severity sites two decades after fire, and 3) Quantify associations between frequently observed bird species and

vegetation structures two decades after fire, to understand habitat-bird associations in the post-fire landscape.

1.2 Methods

1.2.1 Study Area

This data was collected across two wildfires in the southwestern United States, with fires located in southern Colorado and northern New Mexico (Figure 1). In the summer of 2002, lightning caused the Ponil Complex Fire to ignite near Cimarron, New Mexico. Several days after burning as three separate fires, the fires merged into one fire (Hayes and Robeson, 2011). In its entirety, the fire burned across over 36,051 ha, and comprised a mix of primarily ponderosa pine forest, grasslands, and shrublands, along with mixed-conifer forest on some north-facing slopes, and pinyon-juniper woodlands (Pinus edulis, Juniperus deppeana, and Juniperus scopulorum) (Hayes and Robeson, 2009; Hayes and Robeson, 2011). The historical fire regime of this area consisted of frequent, low-severity fires (Moore et al., 1999; Hayes and Robeson, 2011; Parks et al., 2018), though areas of mixed-conifer in the burn footprint may have historically burned with a higher proportion of moderate- and high-severity fire. In total, 51% of the Ponil Complex Fire burned at moderate- to high-severity fire, out of a total of 36,051 ha (Coop et al., 2019). The burned area encompassed a range of private and public lands in northern New Mexico, including the Carson National Forest, Philmont Scout Ranch, and other private properties.

The Hayman Fire began burning in the summer of 2002 near Tappan Mountain, west of Colorado Springs and southwest of Denver, Colorado. In total, the fire burned 55,893 ha (Graham, 2003; Lewis et al., 2006). The Hayman Fire was the biggest wildfire in state history at the time and remains the fourth largest in the state at the time of publication (*Historical*

Wildfire Information | Fire Prevention and Control, n.d.). The fire primarily burned through forests consisting of ponderosa pine and Douglas-fir (*Pseudotsuga menziesii*) forests, and aspen (*Populus tremuloides*) stands (Graham, 2003). Historical fire regimes in the area reflected the mixed-severity fire regime of Colorado ponderosa pine forests, comprised of frequent, lowseverity fires (MFI of 30 years or less) at lower elevations, and smaller, more variable, moderate- and high-severity fires occurring less often and further upslope (Kaufmann et al., 2005; McKinney, 2019; Woolman et al., 2022). The Hayman Fire burned with mixed-severity across its burn footprint. 65% of the Hayman Fire burned at moderate-to to high-severity, out of a total of 52,353 ha (Coop et al., 2019). Up to 70% of the post-fire landscape experienced total tree mortality which was unprecedented in its severity (Fornwalt et al., 2016).

To determine 30-year normals for the time period between 1991 and 2020 at each study location, we utilized the PRISM database (PRISM 2023). Research for the Ponil Complex Fire was conducted at the Philmont Scout Ranch, where temperatures peaked each August with a precipitation of 81.1 mm. Mean temps in the coldest month, January, averaged -0.6°C, and 19.9°C in the hottest month, July, throughout this time period. Research for the Hayman Fire was conducted near and within the Manitou Experimental Forest. 30-year normals indicated the highest precipitation in the month of August, peaking at 87.3 mm. August is also the hottest month on average, with a mean of 16.3°C, and coldest in January, with a mean of -4.1°C.

1.2.2 Site Selection

In 2022, we established 70 sites within the Hayman Fire burn footprint, consisting of 30 high-severity and 40 low- to moderate-severity sites (Figure 1). Figure 2 provides an example picture for the site conditions at low- and high-severity sites for each fire. All sites were

established within the Pike-San Isabel National Forest. In 2023, we established 60 sites within the Ponil Complex Fire, consisting of 30 high-severity and 30 low- to moderate-severity sites. Elevations at Hayman Fire sites ranged from 2145 m to 2609 m. Elevations at Ponil Complex Fire sites ranged from 1836 m to 2490 m. All sites were established within the Philmont Scout Ranch. We measured bird presence between May and June of 2022 and 2023 to align with the breeding bird season (Ralph et al., 1993).

Prior to scouting both fires, we determined fire severity via the Monitoring Trends in Burn Severity (MTBS.gov last accessed on October 8, 2023) program data and reclassified the burn perimeter as either low- or high-severity in ArcGIS Pro (2021), with unburned, low- and moderate-severity grouped together due to the possibility of surviving trees. We then used the resulting fire severity maps in the field to identify potential areas for site establishment. Due to the high-severity nature of much of the Hayman Fire, in the field, we classified high-severity as 100% tree mortality for both fires. We classified low-severity and moderate-severity as any stand with evidence of trees that survived post-fire. A portion of the burned area in the Hayman Fire includes a 2700 ha high-severity patch ten times larger in size than any historical fire from the same area (Fornwalt et al., 2016; Graham, 2003). On account of the similar lack of overstory and wide extent for this large patch, we limited moderate- and high-severity site establishment to no more than 15 sites in that area. We established the remaining 15 sites in other moderate- or high-severity patches. Within both burn footprints, we established sites at least 50 m from the nearest public road, however, we did not avoid proximity to several private, emergency-only roads and hiking trails, because vehicle traffic was infrequent. We established sites at least 200 m from each other based on bird census recommendations from

Hutto et al., 1986. We avoided locations where post-fire management efforts were evident, including planting restoration efforts and salvage logging. We established sites only in areas with clear evidence of ponderosa pine or mixed-conifer forest to maintain consistency across both wildfires and their overlapping forest types.

1.2.3 Bird Surveys

Prior to the 2022 and 2023 field season, we thoroughly trained technicians on species identification for species common to the Hayman and Ponil Complex Fires. We used research studies from the area, local Ebird data, field guides, and other relevant publications of birds associated with southwestern ponderosa pine, Douglas-fir, and aspen forests, as well as grassland- and shrubland associated species, to generate lists of species potentially occurring in the study sites (e.g., Bennetts et al., 1996; Morris et al., 1977; eBird, 2023; Finch, 1997). The aim of these lists were to serve as a reference guide for observers, based on recommendations from Ralph et al. (1995) to reduce observer bias toward certain species during point counts. During initial field days, we practiced species identification while establishing sites.

Once the sampling period began, we collected bird observation data each morning beginning 20 minutes before sunrise and finishing within 5 hours after sunrise via 8-minute point counts at each site. Following the recommendation of other sources utilizing raw counts between sites, we established the *a priori* argument that p (detection probability) was equal in our low- and high-severity sites (Socolar et al., 2019). We are confident in this argument because extra care in study design was taken to minimize detection probability differences between counts. For example, each site was visited twice during the season (Ralph et al., 1995), which has been recommended as sufficient for improving model performance (Dettmers,

1999), determining bird presence vs absence, and calculating species richness (Siegel et al., 2001). At the beginning of each point count, we collected the following data points: start time, end time, date, precipitation, wind speed, cloud cover, and observers. To further reduce detection bias, we did not conduct point counts in heavy rain (anything above a light drizzle), snow, or wind speeds above 18 mph. During the count, we recorded all birds heard or seen within 200 m, by estimating the distance to each bird (after pre-season training with a rangefinder). We selected this distance to ensure accuracy across points and maintain independence across points. To combat any overlap between species and again reduce detection probability bias, we eliminated birds greater than 75 m from all statistical analyses, similar to methods from Vogeler et al., 2013.

We also recorded the method of bird detection, including if a visual ID was made and the sex was determined. The same experienced observer visited every point count across both seasons, with at least one additional crew member acting as an additional observer at each site. Following each count, observers thoroughly reviewed observations together to ensure no birds were double-counted or overlooked. Previous research has found that observer bias was the key source of detection bias between sites; therefore, our pooled method ensured we would not have this kind of variability between sites (Schmidt et al., 2023). When applicable, we recorded unknown sounds and later identified them.

1.2.4 Field Measurements

We collected forestry measurements at all 130 sites where bird counts were conducted to capture immediate vegetation structure characteristics at each point count. The size of each site was 0.04 ha. From the site center, we extended four transects out to 12 m the cardinal

directions. Data collected at the site-level included aspect, slope, and site coordinates, which were recorded at the center of the site. Along each transect, we recorded 1-hour, 10-hour, and 100-hour fuels using modified Brown (1974) methods. We recorded 1-hour fuels on a 6 m transect, and 10-hour and 100-hour fuels along the entire 11.3 m transect. We also recorded understory functional groups (shrub, forb, graminoid, and tree) and substrate (rock, bare ground, litter, woody debris, and moss) along each transect using the point-intercept sampling method and recording only the first vegetation "hit" going downwards. We quantified coarse woody debris via a subplot up to 6m on the transect. For each log in this subplot, we measured the diameter at each end of the log, the length of the log, and whether it was sound or rotten. We measured shrubs \geq 0.61 m along each transect using modified Canfield (1941) protocols, where the recorder measured the length of space each shrub crossed on the transect. Gaps of greater than 0.30 m were considered a separate shrub. We used the average height of the entire shrub or continuous shrub patch to determine the average height. We collected overstory information across the entire site, including percent canopy cover via a densitometer and diameter at breast height for all trees and saplings. We also counted and aged all seedlings. We aged ponderosa pine and Douglas-fir seedlings via the whorl-count method. We grouped aspen, pinyon pine, and juniper seedlings into four size classes based on height. Distance to the nearest five seed sources were calculated up to 200 m from site center for both ponderosa pine and Douglas-fir trees, along with juniper and pinyon pine when present.

1.2.5 Statistical analysis

Statistical analysis was performed in R (version 2022.02.0 "Prairie Trillium"). All analysis was performed at an α = .05 significance cutoff. To address Objective #1, we first classified sites

into high- and low-severity interior and edge groups for the Ponil Complex Fire. We created these classifications based on a spatial refugia layer from Walker et al. (2019). We classified low-severity sites as "low-severity interior" if they were further than 100 m from a non-refugia patch at least 0.4 ha in area via measurement in ArcGIS Pro. Similarly, we classified highseverity sites as "high-severity interior" if they were further than 100 m from a refugia patch at least 0.4 ha in area. We attempted the same classification for the Hayman Fire. However, despite extensive sampling across the burned area, our sample size for high-severity edge and low-severity interior sites were too small for analysis. Thus, we analyzed sites across simply low- vs high-severity sites. To categorize shrub cover groups across the fires, we split sites into low, moderate, and high shrub cover groupings. Low cover consisted of sites with 0-20% of the site having shrubs at least 0.61 m tall, moderate sites had between 20-40% cover, and high sites above 40% cover. Following this categorization, we assessed species richness across site types for normality via Shapiro-Wilks test in R using the *psyntur* package (Andrews, 2022), along with a visual assessment of Q-Q plots. Then, we ran a Two-Sample t-Test and One-Way Analysis of Variance (ANOVA) on these site-type categories to test for differences in species richness based on severity and shrub cover. We examined differences among groups using a Tukey's HSD test when ANOVA results were significant.

To assess vegetation and avian community dissimilarity across sites (Objective #2), we first created a summary table of vegetation structure variables. We assessed correlation between these variables via Spearman Correlation Coefficients and did not include highly correlated variables in the analysis. Due to non-normality, we performed Kruskal Wallis tests on canopy cover, live basal area, snag basal area, percent bare ground/rock, percent shrub,

percent graminoid, and 1000-hour fuels across low- and high- severity sites at each fire. We then performed post-hoc Dunn tests when significance was found. We also conducted a Fisher's Exact test on conifer seedling presence vs absence between low- and high-severity sites at each fire, including ponderosa pine, Douglas-fir, pinyon pine, and juniper seedlings (Table 3).

To analyze avian community dynamics at low- and high-severity sites, we created a dissimilarity matrix via Jaccard distance, which is used for binary classifications. We then conducted a non-metric multidimensional scaling analysis (NMDS) on the dissimilarity matrix using the Vegan package in R (Oksanen, 2022). NMDS results are assessed via a stress value, with the best results having a minimized stress value. Stress is minimized by selecting a higher number of dimensions (k) (Bakker, 2023). However, there is a tradeoff between complexity of interpretation and smaller stress values. For both fires, we selected K = 5 dimensions to get stress as close as possible to an acceptable value of 0.1, based on recommendations from Buttigieg and Ramette (2014). We then fit environmental and species vectors onto results from NMDS, to assess vegetation structure variables and species significantly correlated with the site distributions. We fit these vectors onto the NMDS using the envfit function in the Vegan package in R (Oksanen, 2022). The envfit function fits vectors of variables onto the ordination plot and assesses the significance of these fitted vectors using permutation of the selected variables (Envfit Function - RDocumentation, n.d.). The resulting plot scales vectors based on their correlation, so that stronger predictors have longer arrows pointed in the direction of the relationship in the resulting ordination plot.

Following the fitting of these environmental and species vectors, we conducted a permutational multivariate ANOVA (PERMANOVA) on the dissimilarity matrix using the

ADONIS2 function in the *Vegan* package in R (Oksanen, 2022), to test for significant differences across sites based on site-type and shrub-type categories as grouping factors. We assessed the marginal effect of each term in the model.

To address Objective #3, we conducted hypothesis testing across each fire for all species observed on at least 15 sites. We classified sites into a "present" and "non-present" group for each species following methods from Veech, 2021. We assessed normality via Shapiro-Wilks testing in R. Due to non-normality, we selected Wilcoxon-Rank Sum Tests. We then conducted hypothesis tests on a variety of habitat variables, depending on the associated habitat group for each species. For example, we conducted hypothesis tests for forest-associated species on canopy cover, snag basal area, and shrub cover across sites at each fire. Hypotheses varied based on habitat-associations for each species group (Table 1).

To further explore Objective #3, we fit logistic regression models when possible for all species observed within 75 m of at least 15 sites at either fire, as well as for species with enough observations at both fires to fit a logistic regression model across both fires. To fit models, we used the *Caret package* in R (Kuhn, 2023). We split data for each species into training and testing sets. We selected models with Area under the Curve (AUC) values of at least .7 (Mandrekar, 2010), and with a combined Sensitivity and Specificity value minimum as close to 1.5 as possible (Power et al., 2012). For each model, we tested a range of habitat variable combinations based on predictions about the ecological importance of various vegetation structures for each species (e.g., we tested percent grass cover for grassland-associated species). Due to multicollinearity among many vegetation structure variables, we calculated a variance inflation factor (VIF) for each potential model, and only considered

models with VIF values of < 10 (James et al., 2013). Models also had to have residual deviance values lower than the null deviance to be selected. From this point, we selected final models based on those which had the best overall AUC value based on results of the testing set, followed by the highest Receiver Operating Characteristic curve (ROC) value when AUC values were equal.

1.3 Results

1.3.1 Vegetation structure across fire severities:

Broadly, sites of the same severity had similar vegetation structures across the two fires for almost all variables tested (Table 2). For both canopy cover and live basal area, we found significant differences between low- and high-severity sites irrespective of the fire, and lowseverity sites had significantly higher live basal area and canopy cover than high-severity sites. There were no significant differences for either of these variables when comparing values between low-severity sites of the Hayman vs Ponil Complex Fire, and similarly, no significant differences when testing values between high-severity sites of the Hayman vs Ponil Complex Fire. There were significant shrub cover differences between the fires, and the Ponil Complex Fire had greater overall shrub cover. There was also a significant difference in shrub cover between low- and high-severity sites at the Hayman Fire, but not between low- and highseverity sites at the Ponil Complex Fire. Snag basal area was significantly different between lowand high-severity at the Hayman Fire, with higher snag area at high-severity sites. However, it was not significantly different across low-severity comparisons between the fires, high-severity comparisons between the fires, or between low- and high-severity sites at the Ponil Complex Fire. Similarly, percent grass cover was significantly different between low- and high-severity at

the Hayman Fire, but was not significantly different between low- and high-severity sites at the Ponil Complex Fire. Percent bare ground/rock and 1000-hour fuels were both significantly different between low- and high-severity at the Hayman Fire and at the Ponil Complex Fire, and were not significantly different between similar severities across the fires. Conifer seedling presence was not significantly different between sites of the same severity across fires, but was significantly different between low- and high-severity sites at each fire (Table 3).

1.3.2 Avian community patterns across fire severities

We observed 65 species in total within 75 m of a site across both fires (Table 5). NMDS results demonstrate broad species groupings by severity within each fire, as well as significant species drivers of dissimilarity across the sites (Figure 3). For the Ponil Complex Fire, the stress value was 0.09. 25 species were significantly correlated with the site distribution patterns on the ordination plot at a significance value of $p \le 0.01$, based on permutation tests of their fitted vectors from the Vegan package (Oksanen, 2022) (Figure 3; only the species with $p \le .001$ are *plotted for ease of interpretation*). Of these 25 species, species associated with high-severity edge and high-severity interior sites included the Woodhouse's Scrub Jay (Aphelocoma woodhouseii) and Green-tailed Towhee (Pipilo chlorurus). Blue-gray Gnatcatchers (Polioptila caerulea) and Rock Wrens (Salpinctes obsoletus) were also generally observed at similar, highseverity edge sites. Low-severity edge sites consisted of Warbling Vireo (Vireo qilvus) and Cordilleran Flycatcher (Empidonax occidentalis) at similar sites, along with Northern Flicker (Colaptes auratus), Hammond's Flycatcher (Empidonax hammondii), Hairy Woodpecker (Leuconotopicus villosus), Steller's Jay (Cyanocitta stelleri), Mountain Chickadee (Poecile *gambeli*), and Townsend's Solitaire (*Myadestes townsendi*) at similar low-severity edge sites.

Species associated with low-severity, but more closely with low-severity interior sites, included House Wren (Troglodytes aedon), Yellow-rumped Warbler (Setophaga coronata), Western Wood-Pewee (Contopus sordidulus), Plumbeous Vireo (Vireo plumbeus), and Western Tanager (Piranga ludoviciana). Species who generally occurred at similar sites, but who did not exhibit a clear distinction for being more associated with low- or high-severity sites included Mourning Dove (Zenaida macroura), Lesser Goldfinch (Spinus psaltria), Cassin's Kingbird (Tyrannus vociferans), Bullock's Oriole (Icterus bullockii), and American Robin (Turdus migratorius). Virginia's Warbler (Vermivora virginiae) and Black-headed Grosbeak (Pheucticus *melanocephalus*) were also grouped together, without clear affinity for high- or low-severity sites. Environmental vectors also highlighted which vegetation characteristics influenced the distribution of sites along the NMDS ordination (Figure 4). Significant environmental vectors for the Ponil Complex Fire included percent canopy cover, live basal area, and percent bare ground/rock at each site (Table 6). Percent graminoid cover was trending toward significant at p = 0.063. However, due to high correlation among all these variables, only live basal area was included in the final result (p= 0.001, R²=0.65). Results of PERMANOVA on the dissimilarity matrix indicated a significant difference between site types (Table 7; p = 0.0001, F = 5.4, $R^2 =$ 0.22). It also indicated a non-significant difference between shrub cover categories (low, moderate, and high shrub cover sites).

For the Hayman Fire, the stress value was 0.10. 23 species significantly drove site distribution patterns at a significance value of $p \le 0.01$ (Figure 3; *only the species with* $p \le .001$ *are plotted*). Of these 23 species, some clear groupings emerged in the data. Species composition at high-severity sites generally included Green-tailed Towhee, Mountain Bluebird

(Sialia currucoides), Vesper Sparrow (Pooecetes gramineus), Rock Wren, Sage Thrasher (Oreoscoptes montanus), Canyon Wren (Catherpes mexicanus), and Brewer's Sparrow (Spizella *breweri*). There were many species generally driving the low-severity site distribution, which likely reflects the significantly higher species richness at low-severity sites. These species included Chipping Sparrow (Spizella passerina), Mountain Chickadee, Townsend's Solitaire, Hammond's Flycatcher, Yellow-rumped Warbler, Pygmy Nuthatch (Sitta pygmaea), and Western Tanager. Western Wood-Pewee, White-breasted Nuthatch (Sitta carolinensis), and Steller's Jay also were generally associated with low-severity sites, but in a separate clustering from the previously mentioned species. Hairy Woodpecker did not naturally tend to occur with any other species, landing between low- and high-severity sites on the NMDS ordination plot. Other species not generally associated with low- or high-severity sites, but generally clustering together, included Northern Flicker, American Robin, Black-headed Grosbeak, House Wren, and Olive-sided Flycatcher (Contopus cooperi). Significant environmental vectors shaping the distribution of sites for the Hayman Fire included 1000-hr fuels, percent canopy cover, tall shrub cover, percent bare ground/rock, live basal area, snag basal area, and percent graminoid. Similar to the Ponil Complex Fire, highly-correlated variables were eliminated, and only those explaining the highest proportion of variance were kept in the final analysis. These significant variables were 1000-hour fuels, tall shrub cover, live basal area, snag basal area, and percent graminoid cover (Table 6). Live basal area had the highest R2, at 0.64 (p = 0.001). Results of PERMANOVA on the dissimilarity matrix indicated a significant difference between low- and high-severity site types (Table 7; $R^2 = 0.16$, F stat = 12.9, p < 0.0001).

1.3.3 Species richness across low- and high- severity sites

For both the Ponil Complex and Hayman Fires, species richness was significantly higher at all low-severity sites compared to all high-severity sites (Figure 5). Post-hoc testing for significance between edge vs interior sites at the Ponil Complex Fire indicated only overall significance between low- and high-severity at large, but not between any groupings of edge or interior sites. However, the difference in species richness between high-severity edge and highseverity interior sites at the Ponil Complex Fire were trending toward significant (p = 0.07). After testing for species richness differences between severities, we tested for differences between shrub cover categories as well. Species richness was not significantly higher between low, moderate, and high shrub cover sites at the Ponil Complex Fire, but was trending toward significance (p = 0.06).

1.3.4 Habitat associations of frequently observed species

There were 37 species observed at least 15 times at either fire for which we analyzed species-habitat associations (Table 4). Our hypotheses were sometimes but not always supported, depending on the species and vegetation structure metric being measured (Table 1). At the Ponil Complex Fire, forest-associated species who supported our hypothesis that sites where these species were present would exhibit significantly higher percent canopy cover than sites where these species were not observed, included the Cordilleran Flycatcher, Mountain Chickadee, Plumbeous Vireo, Western Tanager, and Yellow-rumped Warbler. Sites where the Black-headed Grosbeak was observed did not have a significant relationship with canopy cover. Woodland-associated species who reflected trends we would expect based on their nesting guilds included the Warbling Vireo (higher canopy cover), Western Wood-Pewee (higher canopy cover), and Dusky Flycatcher (*Empidonax oberholseri*) (lower canopy cover), American

Robin, and Northern Flicker. Virginia's Warbler did not exhibit a significant difference in canopy cover between sites, nor did the House Wren, the only frequent scrub-associated species. Regarding other vegetation structure metrics, there were less apparent trends for most species. Out of all species, only the Western Tanager and Western Wood-Pewee exhibited significant, negative relationships with tall shrub cover. Out of all species, only the Black-headed Grosbeak had a significant, negative relationship with snag basal area.

For the Hayman Fire, forest- and woodland-associated species that were present at sites with significantly higher percent canopy cover (as hypothesized) included the Dark-eyed Junco (Junco hyemalis), Hammond's Flycatcher, Mountain Chickadee, Pygmy Nuthatch, Steller's Jay, Western Tanager, Yellow-rumped Warbler, Chipping Sparrow, Townsend's Solitaire, and Western Wood-Pewee. Surprisingly, Brown-headed Cowbird (Molothrus ater), a grasslandassociated species, was also associated with higher percent canopy cover at sites where it was observed. Dusky Flycatcher and Mountain Bluebird are the only two woodland-associated species who exhibited an association with lower percent canopy cover, along with the Greentailed Towhee (scrub-associated) and Rock Wren (desert-associated). When analyzing canopy cover, other species' results were not significant. Similar to the Ponil Complex Fire, fewer species had significant relationships with tall shrub cover and dead basal area between present vs non-present sites, compared to canopy cover as a habitat metric. Forest- or woodlandassociated species with a significant, negative relationship with tall shrub cover included the Pygmy Nuthatch, Steller's Jay, Western Tanager, Townsend's Solitaire, and Western Wood-Pewee. Species with a significant, positive relationship with tall shrub cover at present sites included the Dusky Flycatcher, Green-tailed Towhee, and Rock Wren. Finally, sites where the

Pygmy Nuthatch, Steller's Jay, Western Tanager, and Western Wood-Pewee were observed had lower dead basal area. The Dusky Flycatcher was associated with higher dead basal area. Finally, Green-tailed Towhee and Rock Wren were associated with higher percent grass cover, as expected.

1.3.5 Vegetation structures associated with individual species presence

We tested logistic regression models for the same set of species observed at least 15 times at each fire (Table 8). For the Ponil Complex Fire, we successfully fit logistic regression models for three species. These species included two forest-associated species, the Western Tanager (AUC = 1.00) and Plumbeous Vireo (AUC = 0.83, and one open-woodland associatedspecies, the Western Wood-Pewee (AUC = 0.75). For all three of these species, univariate models performed best, with site type as the sole predictor. In all instances, these species were associated with low-severity sites. For the Plumbeous Vireo, a competing model with site type and canopy cover as predictor had a lower AUC (0.93), but higher ROC (0.88).

For the Hayman Fire, we successfully fit logistic regression models for Mountain Chickadee, Pygmy Nuthatch, Green-tailed Towhee, Rock Wren, and Yellow-rumped Warbler (Table 8). Of these, Mountain Chickadee, Pygmy Nuthatch, and Yellow-rumped Warbler are forest-associated species. Top models for these three forest-associated species' models included just percent canopy cover as a predictor (Pygmy Nuthatch, AUC = 1.00), percent canopy cover and dead basal area as predictor variables combined (Yellow-rumped Warbler; AUC = 0.90, VIF < 5), or with site type and dead basal area as predictors (Mountain Chickadee; AUC = 0.83, VIF < 10). Overall, species exhibited a positive relationship with low-severity sites and higher canopy cover, as one might expect for forest species. It is interesting to note that the higher dead basal area was also an almost-significant predictor for the Mountain Chickadee (p = 0.06), a secondary cavity nester. While higher dead basal area was not a significant predictor for the Yellow-rumped Warbler, including it in the final model slightly out-performed other model candidates that combined canopy cover and site type, canopy cover alone, or site type alone. The remaining two successful models were for a desert-associated species, Rock Wren, and a scrub-associated species, Green-tailed Towhee. For the Rock Wren model, simply including site type as a predictor fit a successful model (AUC = 0.88). For Green-tailed Towhee, a combination of site type and tall shrub cover as predictors created the best model (AUC = 0.79). Opposite to the forest-associated species, these species were associated with highseverity sites. In the case of Green-tailed Towhee, the model also indicated a positive relationship with greater tall shrub cover.

Finally, two species' models performed successfully across the two fires, the Yellowrumped Warbler and Western Tanager. For the Yellow-rumped Warbler model, a combination of site type and percent canopy cover was best (AUC = 0.82, VIF <5). For the Western Tanager model, a combination of site type, fire type, and percent canopy cover performed best (AUC = 0.92, VIF < 10). As a whole, site type (i.e., severity) and percent canopy cover were frequently the most important predictors for models across species at either or both fires.

1.4 Discussion

1.4.1 Overview

We examined bird communities and their response to fire severity and vegetation structure two decades after wildfire in southwestern ponderosa pine forests. To accomplish this, we analyzed differences in composition and species richness across low- and high-severity sites and investigated species-specific associations with severity and vegetation structure on the post-fire landscape. We found that severity had mixed effects on avian community dynamics at a fine habitat scale. Avian community composition at low- and high-severity sites continue to be divergent 20 years post-fire, and high-severity sites had significantly lower species richness compared to low-severity sites. Burn severity and canopy cover were consistently the most associated factors with species presence of individual bird species. To date, there is minimal research that addresses the long-term avian response to vegetation succession in ponderosa pine-dominated ecosystems of the southwestern United States at least 20 years post-fire. Our findings indicate the continual importance of pyrodiversity, or mixedseverity wildfire mosaics, for maximizing species richness in these frequent fire ecosystems (Bowman et al., 2016; Tingley et al., 2016). These findings also indicate that wildfires with a large proportion of high-severity patches do not facilitate bird species richness in the long-term compared to wildfires with greater heterogeneity. A mix of low-severity and high-severity patches prompted overall greater richness of bird species with different habitat requirements, and low-severity patches supported the most species 20 years after fire. Finally, the distinct differences in vegetation structure and conifer regeneration between low vs high-severity sites at both fires, paired with the significant differences in the associated bird communities, highlight the enduring influence of high-severity wildfire in these systems. Southwestern ponderosa pine ecosystems are increasingly at risk of wildfire-driven conversion (Coop et al., 2020; Guiterman et al., 2022), and our results indicate that conversion in high-severity patches at these fires has led to significantly different bird communities at least two decades after fire. 1.4.2 Influence of severity on species richness

Overall, the lower species richness at high-severity sites reflects what we expected based on the characteristics of the post-fire landscape for both fires. Research has shown that vegetation structure in burned areas shapes the effect of fire on bird community composition (Barton et al., 2014), and there is a relationship between species richness and foliage height diversity (Culbert et al. 2013; MacArthur and MacArthur, 1961; Wood et al., 2013), as well as mean canopy height (Culbert et al., 2013). At the Hayman Fire, our research supports these findings, because there continued to be minimal tree regeneration, low shrub cover, and minimal canopy cover across high-severity sites at the Hayman Fire. These high-severity patches in the Hayman post-fire landscape, with large swathes of non-forested area and minimal shrub cover, lacked the vegetation structure necessary to support a greater number of species compared to low-severity sites with extensive canopy cover. The Ponil Complex postfire landscape had higher tall shrub cover at high-severity sites (an average of 22% cover compared to just 2% cover at Hayman Fire high-severity sites). However, similar to the Hayman Fire, high-severity sites lacked live canopy cover from mature trees. Our lower species richness findings at high-severity sites at the Ponil Complex Fire indicate that despite more tall shrub cover at high-severity sites, this mid-story cover still did not offset the overall impact of burn severity and enduring canopy cover loss at high-severity sites for species richness. This was further supported by our findings that species richness was not significantly different across different shrub cover categories. Our results echo findings that found lower species richness in high-severity patches across boreal and hemiboreal Northern American regions (Zlonis et al., 2019), and conifer forests of California (Tingley et al., 2016), but contradict those in the uppermixed conifer zone of Oregon (Fontaine et al. 2009). Ultimately, our species richness findings at

these two wildfires highlight the enduring impact of high-severity fire in ponderosa-pine dominated ecosystems at least twenty years post-fire, and potentially further if similar vegetation structure persists in the coming decades as a result of wildfire-driven conversion.

Recent research into high-severity patch size has also found lower species richness at high-severity interiors than at high-severity edges, with high-severity interiors containing a subset of the species present at high-severity edge sites (Steel et al., 2021). Similarly, a study highlighting a woodpecker indicator species found higher species occupancy in areas with more varied severities, such as in high-severity patches in proximity to low-severity areas (Stillman et al., 2023). While our species richness results were non-significant between high-severity interior and high-severity edge sites at the Ponil Complex Fire, high-severity interior sites had the lowest species richness of any group and were trending toward significant (p = 0.07), warranting further study into how increasingly large high-severity patches will influence bird communities in these systems differently than historically smaller high-severity patch sizes. *1.4.3 Influence of severity on vegetation structure and avian community composition*

Literature regarding avian response to wildfire often uses time-since-fire as a proxy for vegetation recovery (e.g., Hutto and Patterson, 2016; Smucker et al. 2005; Taillie et al., 2018). Yet additional research into how vegetation recovery shapes avian responses further than 10 years post-fire is warranted (Franklin et al., 2022; Vierling & Lentile, 2008), with evidence that findings may not transfer across ecosystems (Rainsford et al., 2021). Therefore, we prefaced our analysis of community composition at low- vs high-severity sites with an analysis of vegetation recovery across the sites. Based on significant differences in percent canopy cover, live basal area, dead basal area, percent graminoid cover, 1000-hour fuels, percent shrub cover,

and conifer regeneration between low- and high-severity sites at both fires, we concluded there are still significantly different recovery patterns occurring at low- vs high-severity sites 20 years post-fire, similar to other findings (Fornwalt et al., 2018).

Likewise, avian community composition at low- and high-severity sites diverged considerably across both fires. Our multivariate analysis pointed to distinct avian communities across severities, with low-severity associated birds, high-severity associated birds, and species without a clear distinction for preference between the two (generalist species, edge specialists, etc.). This was expected, given that vegetation structure differed significantly between low- and high-severity sites and previous literature has highlighted species-specific habitat requirements as a strong driving factor in wildlife responses to fire (e.g., Vierling and Lentile, 2008, Van Lear and Harlow, 2002). Thus, severity continued to contribute to divergent bird communities at least 20 years after fire.

We also found that more overall species had a strong association with low-severity sites than high-severity sites at both fires. Low-severity sites typically included mature ponderosa pine trees and extensive canopy cover, which reflects other research in southwestern ponderosa pine forest that found the highest breeding bird abundance and richness in forest stands with mature ponderosa pine trees (Rosenstock, 1996). Fewer bird species were clearly associated with high-severity sites or their vegetation structure (e.g., lower canopy cover) and this was more pronounced at the Ponil Complex Fire than at the Hayman Fire. At the Ponil Complex Fire, features such as shrub cover, grass cover, and snag basal area, which benefit nonforest-associated species, were not significantly different between low- and high-severity sites. Thus, we hypothesize that shrub-associated species like Virginia's Warbler could meet their

habitat requirements at sites of any severity at the Ponil Complex Fire, rather than exclusively at high-severity sites. In addition, while high-severity fire creates many ephemeral habitat benefits for bird species immediately post-fire, including an increase in prey and suitable cavity nester habitat (White et al., 2015), these benefits would have dissipated 20 years post-fire.

More high-severity sites at the Ponil Complex Fire were considered edge sites located closer to a refugia patch than at the Hayman Fire, where all our sites were greater than 100 m from a refugia patch. High-severity patch proximity to unburnt patches dictates whether bird species can utilize a variety of burn severities (termed habitat complementation), and is important for a variety of species (Stillman et al., 2023; Watson et al., 2012). In addition, while the Hayman Fire burned with an unprecedented amount of high-severity (Fornwalt et al., 2016), researchers studying the Ponil Complex Fire found that there was not a large change in the patch structure across the landscape after the fire, meaning the fire mirrored historic burn severity patterns, with a mosaic of low-, moderate-, and high-severity patches (Hayes and Robeson, 2009). At the Ponil Complex Fire, this likely influenced the presence of edgeassociated species who may not have displayed a clear affinity for high-severity sites in the results, but likely benefited from edge sites where they could take advantage of features across both low- and high-severity sites (Zlonis et al., 2019). For example, the Olive-Sided Flycatcher is an edge-associated species who may not have shown a clear affinity for high-severity sites, but may opt for edge sites, where they can benefit from vegetation features across both low- and high-severity (Zlonis et al., 2019). At the same time, large high-severity patch sizes with greater amounts of patch interior at the Hayman Fire likely reduced the ability for species to benefit fully from a variety of habitat types, limiting high-severity habitat use to mostly birds with clear

grassland- or desert-type habitat requirements (such as the Western Meadowlark, Rock Wren, and Vesper Sparrow).

Overall, the different avian communities at low- and high-severity sites, along with the variety of generalist and edge-associated species present at both fires (e.g., American Robin, Olive-sided Flycatcher, Black-headed Grosbeak, etc.), support the pyrodiversity-biodiversity hypothesis, which posits that heterogeneity across the landscape is important for maximizing the number of species on the landscape (Tingley et al., 2016). At the same time, however, our findings pointed toward the presence of more species that benefited from low-severity vegetation structures. Thus, while grassland-, desert- and shrubland-associated species utilized high-severity sites in our fires, we conclude that a large proportion of high-severity fire still reduces the overall species richness on the landscape 20 years after fire. This is especially relevant in instances of large high-severity patches with large interior space, where these interiors supported fewer species than edges in other ecosystems (Steel et al., 2021), though our sampling design did not properly capture this variability.

1.4.4 Species-specific habitat associations

Canopy cover and severity had the strongest associations with individual species presence. A combination of these variables predicted the detection of many common forestassociated species that had a positive association with higher canopy cover and a negative association with high-severity fire sites (including species such as Pygmy Nuthatch, Mountain Chickadee, Western Tanager, and Plumbeous Vireo). For some shrubland-, grassland-, and desert-associated species, the flipside also remained true, where lower canopy cover and highseverity fire were associated with Dusky Flycatcher presence at the Ponil Complex Fire, and
several species at the Hayman Fire, including the Rock Wren and Green-tailed Towhee. The major influence of fire severity and canopy cover in our study reflects other sources which hypothesize that greater overstory cover provides improved foraging and protection from predators for wildlife (Barton et al., 2014), as well as research that found fire severity drove variations in habitat structure across burned areas multiple decades after fire (Roberts et al., 2020). Additional post-fire literature has also highlighted the importance of canopy cover in moderating the effect of fire on bird species, and recommended utilizing canopy cover and structure when managing for canopy-associated species (Franklin et al., 2023).

At the Ponil Complex Fire in particular, canopy cover was almost the sole important metric for predicting species presence, compared to the relatively minimal correlations between species and shrub cover, grass cover, or snag area. Higher/lower snag and shrub cover were associated with only a few species, despite what we expected due to research that the presence of mature ponderosa pine, large snags, and gambel oak (*Quercus gambelii*) cover are all generally important predictors for southwestern bird communities (Rosenstock, 1996), and the fact that species such as the Pygmy Nuthatch, Mountain Chickadee and Western Wood-Pewee are cavity nesters who utilize snags. Due to the high correlation between live basal area and canopy cover at our sites, live basal area likely also exhibits this relationship with bird species across our sites. We also did not measure associations between species presence and 1000-hour fuels due to the high multicollinearity between this and other variables selected, though a study in Nebraska ponderosa pine forests found that coarse woody debris was an important factor for determining cavity nester distributions (Keele et al., 2019).

1.4.5 Management implications

As our findings and other research shows, management actions which aim to preserve both low- and high-severity patches and reduce the overall proportion of high-severity patches across the landscape will maximize species diversity by providing a range of distinct vegetation structures that suit species with different life history traits (Roberts et al., 2020; Stillman et al., 2023). Furthermore, unburned and low-severity patches serve as an important source of habitat for forest-associated species in post-fire landscapes (Reynolds et al., 2022; Woolet et al., 2023). Managers should ideally identify desired forested habitats on the landscape before a fire occurs, to proactively incorporate preservation into fire planning, as suggested by Meddens et al. (2018). Managers can accomplish this by promoting forest resilience before a fire occurs, via actions such as pre-fire thinning and prescribed burning, to reduce fuel loads on the landscape (Parks et al., 2023) and maintain habitat heterogeneity across the landscape.

In instances where a fire has already occurred, managers should aim to allocate planting resources to the interiors of large high-severity patches, where natural regeneration is unlikely to occur (Chambers et al., 2016; Coop et al., 2020), and bird species richness will most likely be the lowest a couple decades after the fire (Steel et al., 2021). In addition, managers should aim to retain large diameter snags as habitat structures in post-fire landscapes, so that bird species can benefit from the ephemeral benefits of high-severity fire (Chambers and Mast, 2005).

1.4.6 Study Limitations and additional research needs

The overarching influence of canopy cover and lack of abundance data in our study likely masked fine-scale habitat associations for a variety of species at our study sites, such as the requirement of snag availability for cavity nesters (Ganey, 2016). Future studies that capture abundance metrics, or quantify behavioral differences such as nest selection, foraging

behavior, or reproductive success, could further quantify fine-scale habitat associations for bird species. Furthermore, we took many precautions to reduce detection probability bias by limiting observations to within 75 m, only conducting counts in good weather, and visiting sites twice during the season. When care is taken to ensure factors such as weather variables, observer differences, time of visit, and season of visit are similar across study sites, detection bias is likely to be minimal (MacKenzie et al., 2018). Therefore, we are confident in our modeled results for more commonly observed species. However, we did not examine habitat relationships for difficult to observe, rare, or more variable species due to detection probability differences. Capturing these habitat relationships in future studies would help to better understand the full range of bird community dynamics.

Further, we would improve our study by adding additional edge and patch metric data into analysis. More detailed data on patch configuration across the entire landscape could better model species responses and community richness patterns across a patch gradient. Similarly, remote sensing products could offer insight into more-detailed vertical vegetation structure differences between sites or provide more detailed insights into habitat and nesting selection for bird species (e.g., Vogeler et al., 2016). Future studies should aim to better quantify different layers of the canopy structure to capture additional vegetation metrics such as more detailed midstory information. While our study focused on fine-scale habitat selection based on site-specific measurements, future work should incorporate remote sensing products to capture a continuous gradient of vegetation structure across larger scales. This could help to compare these post-fire habitat associations at both small and large scales and determine which scale is most important for various bird species and their post-fire habitat selections.

Finally, because species-specific relationships may vary based on geographical locations, even within other frequent fire systems, managers and researchers alike need to be cautious when interpreting results across different ecosystems. Future research may aim to include a chronosequence across future decades, to understand whether our findings persist for more decades post-fire, especially under changing climate regimes.

1.4.7 Conclusions

Regeneration failure is increasing in prevalence in ponderosa pine ecosystems as fire regimes and climate conditions shift (Haffey et al., 2018; Petrie et al., 2023). Ultimately, whether successful regeneration occurs in future decades in these burned landscapes will have widespread implications for whether our findings 20 years post-fire persist into the coming decades. Our results provide a foundation for site conditions 20 years post-fire and warrant additional investigation into longer time scales in these ecosystems. Our findings highlight the importance of mixed-severity mosaics across post-fire landscapes by demonstrating that lowand high-severity fire patches support bird species and distinct bird communities with contrasting habitat needs two decades after fire. Our results also show that patches of lowseverity fire had significantly higher species richness than high-severity patches at both fires. This is especially relevant as "megafires" increase the proportion of high-severity fire across the landscape, because these findings indicate high-severity patches support fewer overall species than low-severity patches. Managers must consider the extent to which high-severity patches dominate burned landscapes in future fires, and how to manage these landscapes for the biodiversity of these forests. The availability of a mosaic landscape with both high-severity patches paired with a suitable amount of low-severity habitat will become an increasingly

important consideration for avian species conservation in the western U.S. (Stillman et al., 2023; Tingley et al., 2016), given increases in high severity wildfires (Mueller et al., 2020; Parks and Abatzoglou, 2020).

1.5 Tables and Figures

1.5.1 Tables

Table 1: Habitat association hypotheses for the species and variables tested by Wilcoxon-Rank Sum Tests. In the Wilcoxon-Rank Sum results table, species are organized into the same habitat association categories provided by this table.

Habitat association	Canopy Cover Hypothesis	Shrub Cover Hypothesis	Dead Basal Area Hypothesis	Grass Cover Hypothesis
Forest- Associated Species	Sites where this species was detected will have higher % canopy cover than sites where it was not detected.	Sites where this species was detected will have lower % shrub cover than sites where it was not detected.	Sites where cavity nester species within this group were detected will have higher dead basal area than sites where it was not detected. Other nesting guilds will not exhibit a preference.	Not tested
Open- Woodland Associated Species	Sites where tree or cavity nesters species within this group were detected will have higher canopy cover. Sites where scrub or ground nester species were detected will have lower canopy cover.	Sites where tree or cavity nesters species within this group were detected will have lower shrub cover. Sites where scrub or ground nester species were detected will have higher shrub cover.	Sites where cavity nesters or flycatcher species within this group were detected will have higher dead basal area . Species belonging to other foraging and/or nesting guilds will not exhibit a preference.	Not tested
Scrub- Associated, Desert- Associated Species, or Grassland- Associated Species	Sites where this species was detected will have lower % canopy cover than sites where it was not detected.	Sites where this species was detected will have higher % shrub cover than sites where it was not detected.	Not tested	Sites where this species was detected will have higher % grass cover than sites where it was not detected.

Table 2: Mean vegetation characteristics at low- and high-severity sites across the Hayman and Ponil Complex Fires. Standard errors are in parentheses. Sites that do not share superscript letters are significantly different (based on Kruskal-Wallis and post-hoc Dunn tests with $\alpha = .05$ significance level).

Fire	Site Type	% Canopy Cover	Live Basal Area (m² / ha)	Snag Basal Area (m²/ ha)	% Shrub (≥ 0.61 m)	% Bare ground or rock	% Graminoid	1000- hour Fuels (mg/ha)
Ponil	High	0.35	0.00	3.12	22.12%	37.20	32.29	12.82
Complex	Severity	(0.29) ª	(0.00) ª	(0.54) ª	(2.82) ª	(2.57) ª	(2.85) ª	(1.89)ª
Ponil	Low	38.10	19.89	1.77	15.31%	10.38	24.76	2.64
Complex	Severity	(2.36) ^ь	(1.21) ^ь	(0.43) ^{ab}	(2.74) ªb	(1.14) ^b	(2.37) ª	(0.64) ^ь
Hayman	High	1.67	0.13	4.69	2.70%	47.28	29.74	20.32
	Severity	(0.69) ª	(0.09) ª	(0.72) ª	(0.55) °	(3.41) ª	(2.27) ª	(2.72) ª
Hayman	Low	39.03	18.54	1.56	0.48%	8.48	16.36	2.99
	Severity	(2.23) ^ь	(0.96) ^ь	(0.37) ^ь	(0.23) ^d	(1.60) ^ь	(2.20) ^ь	(0.60) ^c

Table 3: Results of Fisher's Exact Test on the presence vs. absence of conifer seedling regeneration. PL represents low-severity sites at the Ponil Complex Fire. PH represents high-severity sites at the Ponil Complex Fire. HL represents low-severity sites at the Hayman Fire. HH represents high-severity sites at the Hayman Fire.

Group 1	Group 2	N	Adjusted p
HH	LL	70	< 0.0001
НН	PH	60	0.44
HH	PL	60	0.002
LL	PH	70	0.0009
LL	PL	70	0.03
PH	PL	60	0.02

Table 4: Results of Wilcoxon Rank-Sum tests on vegetation structure differences between sites where a species was detected vs. non-detected sites for each frequently observed species at each fire. Frequently observed species are defined here as those that were observed as present on at least 15 sites. + * denotes positive relationship, significance of $p \le .05$; + ** denotes positive relationship, significance of p <= .05; - ** denotes negative relationship, significance of p <= .05; - ** denotes negative relationship, significance of p <= .05; - ** denotes negative relationship, significance of p <= .05; - ** denotes negative relationship, significance of p <= .05; - ** denotes negative relationship, significance of p <= .05; - ** denotes negative relationship, significance of p <= .05; - ** denotes negative relationship, significance of p <= .05; - ** denotes negative relationship, significance of p <= .05; - ** denotes negative relationship, significance of p <= .05; - ** denotes negative relationship, significance of p <= .05; - ** denotes negative relationship, significance of p <= .05; - ** denotes negative relationship, significance of p <= .05; - ** denotes negative relationship, significance of p <= .05; - ** denotes negative relationship, significance of p <= .05; - ** denotes negative relationship, significance of p <= .05; - ** denotes negative relationship, significance of p <= .05; - ** denotes negative relationship, significance of p <= .05; - ** denotes negative relationship, significance of p <= .05; - ** denotes negative relationship, significance of p <= .05; - ** denotes negative relationship, significance of p <= .05; - ** denotes negative relationship, significance of p <= .05; - ** denotes negative relationship, significance of p <= .05; - ** denotes negative relationship, significance of p <= .05; - ** denotes negative relationship, significance of p <= .05; - ** denotes negative relationship, significance of p <= .05; - ** denotes n

Ponil Complex Fire: Forest-Associated Species	% Canopy Cover	% Tall Shrub Cover	Dead Basal Area (Snag Area)
Black-headed Grosbeak			*
Cordilleran Flycatcher	+*		
Mountain Chickadee	+**		
Plumbeous Vireo	+**		
Western Tanager	+**	_*	
Yellow-rumped Warbler	+**		
Ponil Complex Fire: Woodland- Associated Species	% Canopy Cover	% Tall Shrub Cover	Dead Basal Area (Snag Area)
American Robin	+*		
Dusky Flycatcher	*		
Northern Flicker			
Virginia's Warbler			
Warbling Vireo	+*		
Western Wood- Pewee	+**	*	
Ponil Complex Fire: Scrub-Associated Species	% Canopy Cover	% Tall Shrub Cover	% Grass Cover
House Wren	+*		
Hayman Fire:	% Canopy Cover	% Tall Shrub Cover	Dead Basal Area (Snag Area)

Forest-Associated			
Species			
Black-headed Grosbeak			
Dark-eyed Junco	+*		
Hammond's Flycatcher	+*		
Mountain Chickadee	+**		
Pygmy Nuthatch	+**	**	*
Steller's Jay	+*	*	**
Western Tanager	+**	_*	*
White-breasted Nuthatch			
Yellow-rumped Warbler	+**		
Hayman Fire:	% Canopy Cover	% Tall Shrub Cover	Dead Basal Area
Associated Species			(Snag Area)
Associated Species American Robin			(Snag Area)
Associated Species American Robin Broad-tailed Hummingbird			(Snag Area)
Associated Species American Robin Broad-tailed Hummingbird Chipping Sparrow	+**		(Snag Area)
Associated Species American Robin Broad-tailed Hummingbird Chipping Sparrow Dusky Flycatcher	+** *	+*	(Snag Area) +*
Associated Species American Robin Broad-tailed Hummingbird Chipping Sparrow Dusky Flycatcher Mountain Bluebird	+** * **	+*	(Snag Area) +*
Associated Species American Robin Broad-tailed Hummingbird Chipping Sparrow Dusky Flycatcher Mountain Bluebird Northern Flicker	+** * **	+*	(Snag Area) +*
Associated Species American Robin Broad-tailed Hummingbird Chipping Sparrow Dusky Flycatcher Mountain Bluebird Northern Flicker Townsend's Solitaire	+** * ** +*	+*	(Shag Area) +*
Associated Species American Robin Broad-tailed Hummingbird Chipping Sparrow Dusky Flycatcher Mountain Bluebird Northern Flicker Townsend's Solitaire Warbling Vireo	+** * ** +*	+*	(Snag Area)
Associated Species American Robin Broad-tailed Hummingbird Chipping Sparrow Dusky Flycatcher Mountain Bluebird Northern Flicker Townsend's Solitaire Warbling Vireo Western Bluebird	+** * ** +*	+*	(Snag Area)

Hayman Fire:	% Canopy Cover	% Tall Shrub Cover	% Grass Cover
Grassland-			
Associated Species			
Brown-headed Cowbird	+*		
Vesper Sparrow			
Hayman Fire:	% Canopy Cover	% Tall Shrub Cover	% Grass Cover
Scrub-Associated			
Species			
Green-tailed Towhee	**	+**	+*
		•	·
House Wren			
House Wren Hayman Fire:	% Canopy Cover	% Tall Shrub Cover	• % Grass Cover
House Wren Hayman Fire: Desert-Associated	% Canopy Cover	% Tall Shrub Cover	% Grass Cover
House Wren Hayman Fire: Desert-Associated Species	% Canopy Cover	% Tall Shrub Cover	% Grass Cover

Table 5: List of all species observed within 75 m of a site at either fire. Habitat associations categorized based on classifications from AllAboutBirds.org, a website from the Cornell Lab.

Species Name	Scientific Name	Fire	Foraging Behavior	Nesting Guild	Habitat Association
American Bushtit	Psaltriparus minimus	Ponil	Foliage Gleaner	Tree	Scrub
American Kestrel	Falco sparverius	Ponil	Aerial Diver	Cavity	Grasslands
American Robin	Turdus migratorius	Both	Ground Forager	Tree	Open Woodlands
Ash-throated Flycatcher	Myiarchus cinerascens	Ponil	Flycatcher	Cavity	Open Woodlands
Black-headed Grosbeak	Pheucticus melanocephalus	Both	Foliage Gleaner	Tree	Forests
Blue-Gray Gnatcatcher	Polioptila caerulea	Ponil	Foliage Gleaner	Tree	Forests
Brewer's Sparrow	Spizella breweri	Hayman	Foliage Gleaner	Shrub	Scrub
Broad-tailed Hummingbird	Selasphorus platycercus	Both	Hovering	Tree	Open Woodlands
Brown-headed Cowbird	Molothrus ater	Both	Ground Forager	Tree	Grasslands
Bullock's Oriole	Icterus bullockii	Ponil	Foliage Gleaner	Tree	Open Woodlands

Canyon Wren	Catherpes mexicanus	Hayman	Ground Forager	Cliff	Deserts
Cassin's Finch	Haemorhous cassinii	Hayman	Ground Forager	Tree	Forests
Cassin's Kingbird	Tyrannus vociferans	Ponil	Flycatcher	Tree	Open Woodlands
Chipping Sparrow	Spizella passerina	Both	Ground Forager	Shrub	Open Woodlands
Clark's Nutcracker	Nucifraga columbiana	Both	Foliage Gleaner	Tree	Forests
Cliff Swallow	Petrochelidon pyrrhonota	Ponil	Aerial Forager	Cliff	Lakes and Ponds
Common Raven	Corvus corax	Both	Ground Forager	Cliff	Forests
Cordilleran Flycatcher	Empidonax occidentalis	Both	Flycatcher	Tree	Forests
Dark-eyed Junco	Junco hyemalis	Both	Ground Forager	Ground	Forests
Dusky Flycatcher	Empidonax oberholseri	Both	Flycatcher	Shrub	Open Woodlands
Evening Grosbeak	Coccothraustes vespertinus	Ponil	Ground Forager	Tree	Forests
Grace's Warbler	Setophaga graciae	Ponil	Foliage Gleaner	Tree	Forests
Gray Flycatcher	Empidonax wrightii	Ponil	Flycatcher	Shrub	Open Woodlands
Green-tailed Towhee	Pipilo chlorurus	Both	Ground Forager	Shrub	Scrub
Hairy Woodpecker	Leuconotopicus villosus	Both	Bark Forager	Cavity	Forests
Hammond's Flycatcher	Empidonax hammondii	Both	Flycatcher	Tree	Forests
Hermit Thrush	Catharus guttatus	Both	Ground Forager	Ground	Open Woodlands
House Wren	Troglodytes aedon	Both	Foliage Gleaner	Cavity	Scrub
Lark Sparrow	Chondestes grammacus	Hayman	Ground Forager	Ground	Grasslands
Lesser Goldfinch	Spinus psaltria	Both	Foliage Gleaner	Tree	Open Woodlands
Lewis's Woodpecker	Melanerpes lewis	Ponil	Aerial Forager	Cavity	Open Woodlands
MacGillivray's Warbler	Geothlypis tolmiei	Ponil	Foliage Gleaner	Shrub	Open Woodlands
Mountain Bluebird	Sialia currucoides	Both	Flycatcher	Cavity	Open Woodlands
Mountain Chickadee	Poecile gambeli	Both	Foliage Gleaner	Cavity	Forests

Mourning Dove	Zenaida macroura	Both	Ground Forager	Tree	Open Woodlands
Northern Flicker	Colaptes auratus	Both	Ground Forager	Cavity	Open Woodlands
Olive-sided Flycatcher	Contopus cooperi	Both	Flycatcher	Tree	Open Woodlands
Pinyon Jay	Gymnorhinus cyanocephalus	Ponil	Ground Forager	Tree	Open Woodlands
Plumbeous Vireo	Vireo plumbeus	Ponil	Foliage Gleaner	Tree	Forests
Pygmy Nuthatch	Sitta pygmaea	Both	Bark Forager	Cavity	Forests
Red Crossbill	Loxia curvirostra	Hayman	Foliage Gleaner	Tree	Forests
Red-breasted Nuthatch	Sitta canadensis	Hayman	Bark Forager	Cavity	Forests
Red-headed Woodpecker	Melanerpes erythrocephalus	Hayman	Flycatcher	Cavity	Open Woodlands
Red-tailed Hawk	Buteo jamaicensis	Both	Soaring	Tree	Forests
Red-winged Blackbird	Agelaius phoeniceus	Hayman	Ground Forager	Shrub	Marshes
Rock Wren	Salpinctes obsoletus	Both	Ground Forager	Ground	Deserts
Sage Thrasher	Oreoscoptes montanus	Hayman	Ground Forager	Shrub	Scrub
Say's Phoebe	Sayornis saya	Hayman	Flycatcher	Building	Grasslands
Song Sparrow	Melospiza melodia	Both	Ground Forager	Shrub	Open Woodlands
Spotted Towhee	Pipilo maculatus	Both	Ground Forager	Ground	Scrub
Steller's Jay	Cyanocitta stelleri	Both	Ground Forager	Tree	Forests
Townsend's Solitaire	Myadestes townsendi	Both	Flycatcher	Ground	Open Woodlands
Vesper Sparrow	Pooecetes gramineus	Both	Ground Forager	Ground	Grasslands
Violet-Green Swallow	Tachycineta thalassina	Both	Aerial Forager	Cavity	Open Woodlands
Virginia's Warbler	Vermivora virginiae	Both	Foliage Gleaner	Ground	Open Woodlands
Warbling Vireo	Vireo gilvus	Both	Foliage Gleaner	Tree	Open Woodlands
Western Bluebird	Sialia mexicana	Both	Flycatcher	Cavity	Open Woodlands
Western Meadowlark	Sturnella neglecta	Hayman	Ground Forager	Ground	Grasslands
Western Tanager	Piranga ludoviciana	Both	Foliage Gleaner	Tree	Forests

Western Wood- Pewee	Contopus sordidulus	Both	Flycatcher	Tree	Open Woodlands
White-Breasted Nuthatch	Sitta carolinensis	Both	Bark Forager	Cavity	Forests
Woodhouse's Scrub-Jay	Aphelocoma woodhouseii	Ponil	Ground Forager	Tree	Scrub
Yellow Warbler	Setophaga petechia	Ponil	Foliage Gleaner	Shrub	Open Woodlands
Yellow-breasted Chat	lcteria virens	Ponil	Foliage Gleaner	Shrub	Scrub
Yellow-rumped Warbler	Setophaga coronata	Both	Foliage Gleaner	Tree	Forests

Table 6: Results of fitting environmental vectors on the NMDS ordination plots. Envfit results show the relative contribution of selected environmental variables to site distribution/separation. Highly correlated variables were eliminated from analysis (i.e., canopy cover, and percent bare ground/rock). Significant vectors are in bold.

Ponil Complex Fire:

Environmental Variable	NMDS1	NMDS2	r²	(Pr (>r)
Thousand Hour Fuels	-0.96	-0.27	0.09	0.06
Tall Shrub Cover	-0.97	0.24	0.05	0.24
Live Basal Area	0.92	-0.40	0.65	0.001
Snag Basal Area	-0.47	0.88	0.04	0.30
Percent Graminoid	-0.50	-0.86	0.03	0.37

Hayman Fire:

Environmental Variable	NMDS1	NMDS2	r²	(Pr (>r)
These	0.00	0.45	0.21	0.001
Inousand	-0.89	0.45	0.31	0.001
Hour Fuels				
Tall Shrub	-0.88	0.47	0.14	0.006
Cover				

Live Basal Area	1.00	10	0.64	0.001
Snag Basal Area	-0.93	0.36	0.11	0.03
Percent Graminoid	-0.98	0.19	0.18	0.003

Table 7: PERMANOVA results on dissimilarity matrix. PERMANOVA results quantify the difference in community composition between different groups (i.e., the difference between site types, between shrub cover groups). Df = degrees of freedom

Ponil Complex Fire:

	df	Sum of	R ²	F	Pr(>F)
		squares			
Site Type	3	3.48	0.22	5.40	0.0001
Shrub Cover Group	2	0.42	0.03	0.97	0.47
Hayman Fire:					
	df	Sum of	R ²	F	Pr(>F)
		squares			
Site Type	1	3.57	0.16	12.90	0.0001

Table 8: Results of the top logistic regression models for species at each fire, and for species' models run for both fires combined. An AUC value of 0.50 indicates a test that performs no better than random; an AUC value 1.00 indicates a test with perfect accuracy. An ROC curve compares sensitivity and specificity values, to quantify test accuracy across a span of values.

Species	Fire	Predictors	AUC	ROC	Sens	Spec
Plumbeous Vireo	Ponil	Site Type	0.83	0.76	0.71	0.82
Western Tanager	Ponil	Site Type	1.00	0.85	0.83	0.87
Western Wood-Pewee	Ponil	Site Type	0.75	0.80	0.79	0.83
Mountain Chickadee	Hayman	Site Type, Dead Basal Area	0.83	0.85	0.60	0.89

Pygmy Nuthatch	Hayman	Canopy Cover	1.00	0.98	0.95	0.97
Yellow-rumped Warbler	Hayman	Site Type, Dead Basal Area	0.90	0.80	0.60	0.92
Green-tailed Towhee	Hayman	Site Type, Tall Shrub Cover	0.79	0.84	0.87	0.73
Rock Wren	Hayman	Site Type	0.88	0.79	0.76	0.82
Western Tanager	Both	Site Type, Fire Type, Canopy Cover	0.92	0.87	0.81	0.82
Yellow-rumped Warbler	Both	Site Type, Canopy Cover	0.82	0.82	0.81	0.68





Figure 1: Maps of the study areas with burned areas and low- and high-severity sites labeled.



Figure 2: Low- and high-severity sites across each fire. Photos in the top row are low-severity (a) and high-severity (b) sites at the Hayman Fire. Photos in the bottom row are low-severity (c) and high-severity (d) sites at the Ponil Complex Fire. Photos highlight the intact canopy cover across low-severity sites at both fires, and the more extensive shrub cover at all sites in the Ponil Complex Fire compared to the Hayman Fire.



Figure 3: NMDS ordination plot with species vectors for each fire. Species with a p-value \leq .001 are included. Significant species vectors are species who significantly influenced the distribution of sites on the NMDS ordination plot. Site types at the Ponil Complex Fire indicate high-severity interior (HI), high-severity edge (HE), low-severity edge (LE), and low-severity interior (LI) sites. Site type at the Hayman Fire indicates high-severity (H) and low-severity (L) sites.



Figure 4: NMDS ordination plot for fires with all environmental vectors. Site types at the Ponil Complex Fire indicate high-severity interior (HI), high-severity edge (HE), low-severity edge (LE), and low-severity interior (LI) sites. Site type at the Hayman Fire indicates high-severity (H) and low-severity (L) sites.





1.6 References

- Abatzoglou, J. T., & Williams, A. P. (2016). Impact of anthropogenic climate change on wildfire across western US forests. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, *113*(42), 11770–11775. <u>https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1607171113</u>
- Baker, W. L., Veblen, T. T., & Sherriff, R. L. (2007). Fire, fuels and restoration of ponderosa pine?
 Douglas fir forests in the Rocky Mountains, USA. *Journal of Biogeography*, *34*(2), 251–269.
 https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2699.2006.01592.x

Bakker, J. D. (2023, May 22). NMDS. Pressbooks.

https://uw.pressbooks.pub/appliedmultivariatestatistics/chapter/nmds/

- Barton, P. S., Ikin, K., Smith, A. L., MacGregor, C., & Lindenmayer, D. B. (2014). Vegetation structure moderates the effect of fire on bird assemblages in a heterogeneous landscape. *Landscape Ecology*, 29(4), 703–714. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10980-014-0017-z</u>
- Bassett, M., Leonard, S., Chia, E. K., Clarke, M. F., & Bennett, A. F. (2017). Interacting effects of fire severity, time since fire and topography on vegetation structure after wildfire. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 396, 26–34. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2017.04.006</u>
- Bennetts, R. E., White, G. C., Hawksworth, F. G., & Severs, S. E. (1996). The influence of dwarf mistletoe on bird communities in Colorado Ponderosa Pine forests. *Ecological Applications*, 6(3), 899–909. <u>https://doi.org/10.2307/2269493</u>

Bowman, D. M. J. S., Perry, G. L., Higgins, S. I., Johnson, C. N., Fuhlendorf, S. D., & Murphy, B. P. (2016). Pyrodiversity is the coupling of biodiversity and fire regimes in food webs. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B*, 371(1696), 20150169.
https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2015.0169

- Brown, P. M., Battaglia, M. A., Fornwalt, P. J., Gannon, B., Huckaby, L. S., Julian, C., & Cheng, A.
 S. (2015). Historical (1860) forest structure in ponderosa pine forests of the northern
 Front Range, Colorado. *Canadian Journal of Forest Research*, 45(11), 1462–1473.
 https://doi.org/10.1139/cjfr-2014-0387
- Brown, James K. 1974. Handbook for inventorying downed woody material. Gen. Tech. Rep. INT-16. Ogden, UT: U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Intermountain Forest and Range Experiment Station. 24 p.
- Buttigieg PL, Ramette A (2014) <u>A Guide to Statistical Analysis in Microbial Ecology: a community</u>focused, living review of multivariate data analyses. *FEMS Microbial Ecol.* **90**: 543–550.
- Canfield, R. H. (1941). Application of the line interception method in sampling range vegetation. Journal of Forestry, 39(4), 388–394. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/jof/39.4.388</u>
- Cassell, B. A., Scheller, R. M., Lucash, M. S., Hurteau, M. D., & Loudermilk, E. L. (2019). Widespread severe wildfires under climate change lead to increased forest homogeneity in dry mixed-conifer forests. *Ecosphere*, *10*(11). <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/ecs2.2934</u>
- Chambers, C. P., & Mast, J. N. (2005). Ponderosa pine snag dynamics and cavity excavation following wildfire in northern Arizona. *Forest Ecology and Management*, *216*(1–3), 227– 240. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2005.05.033
- Chambers, M. E., Fornwalt, P. J., Malone, S. L., & Battaglia, M. A. (2016). Patterns of conifer regeneration following high severity wildfire in ponderosa pine dominated forests of the Colorado Front Range. *Forest Ecology and Management*, *378*, 57–67. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2016.07.001

- Chia, E. K., Bassett, M., Nimmo, D. G., Leonard, S., Ritchie, E. G., Clarke, M. F., & Bennett, A. F.
 (2015). Fire severity and fire-induced landscape heterogeneity affect arboreal mammals in fire-prone forests. *Ecosphere*, 6(10), art190. <u>https://doi.org/10.1890/es15-00327.1</u>
- Coop, J. D. (2022). Postfire futures in southwestern forests: Climate and landscape influences on trajectories of recovery and conversion. *Ecological Applications*, 33(1). https://doi.org/10.1002/eap.2725
- Coop, J. D., DeLory, T., Downing, W. M., Haire, S. L., Krawchuk, M. A., Miller, C., Parisien, M., & Walker, R. B. (2019). Contributions of fire refugia to resilient ponderosa pine and dry mixed-conifer forest landscapes. *Ecosphere*, *10*(7). https://doi.org/10.1002/ecs2.2809
- Coop, J. D., Parks, S. A., Stevens-Rumann, C. S., Crausbay, S. D., Higuera, P. E., Hurteau, M. D., Tepley, A. J., Whitman, E., Assal, T. J., Collins, B. M., Davis, K. T., Dobrowski, S. Z., Falk, D. A., Fornwalt, P. J., Fulé, P. Z., Harvey, B., Kane, V. R., Littlefield, C. E., Margolis, E. Q., . . . Rodman, K. C. (2020). Wildfire-Driven forest conversion in western North American landscapes. *BioScience*, *70*(8), 659–673. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/biosci/biaa061</u>
- Covington, W. W., & Moore, M. M. (1994). Southwestern ponderosa forest structure: changes since Euro-American settlement. Journal of Forestry, 92(1), 39–47.

https://doi.org/10.1093/jof/92.1.39

Covington, W. W., Fulé, P. Z., Moore, M. M., Hart, S. C., Kolb, T. E., Mast, J. N., Sackett, S. S., & Wagner, M. R. (1997). Restoring ecosystem health in Ponderosa pine forests of the southwest. Journal of Forestry, 95(4), 23–29. https://doi.org/10.1093/jof/95.4.23

- Culbert, P. D., Radeloff, V. C., Flather, C. H., Kellndorfer, J., Rittenhouse, C. D., & Pidgeon, A. M. (2013). The influence of vertical and horizontal habitat structure on nationwide patterns of avian biodiversity. *The Auk*, *130*(4), 656–665. <u>https://doi.org/10.1525/auk.2013.13007</u>
- Davis, K. T., Higuera, P. E., Dobrowski, S. Z., Parks, S. A., Abatzoglou, J. T., Rother, M. T., & Veblen, T. T. (2020). Fire-catalyzed vegetation shifts in ponderosa pine and Douglas-fir forests of the western United States. *Environmental Research Letters*, *15*(10), 1040b8. https://doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/abb9df
- Davis, K. T., Robles, M. D., Kemp, K. B., Higuera, P. E., Chapman, T. B., Metlen, K. L., Peeler, J. L.,
 Rodman, K. C., Woolley, T. J., Addington, R. N., Buma, B., Cansler, C. A., Case, M. J., Collins,
 B. M., Coop, J. D., Dobrowski, S. Z., Gill, N. S., Haffey, C., Harris, L. B., . . . Campbell, J. L.
 (2023). Reduced fire severity offers near-term buffer to climate-driven declines in conifer
 resilience across the western United States. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, *120*(11).

https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.2208120120

Dettmers, R. (1999). Influence of point count length and repeated visits on habitat model performance. US Forest Service Research and Development.

https://www.fs.usda.gov/research/treesearch/2218

envfit function - RDocumentation. (n.d.).

https://www.rdocumentation.org/packages/vegan/versions/2.6-4/topics/envfit

Finch, D. M., Ganey, J. L., Wang, Y., Kimball, R. T., & Sallabanks, R. (1997). Effects and Interactions of Fire, Logging, and Grazing. USDA Forest Service, 292, 103–136. https://www.fs.fed.us/rm/pubs_rm/rm_gtr292/rm_gtr292_103_136.pdf Fitzgerald, S. A. (2005). *Fire ecology of ponderosa pine and the rebuilding of fire-resilient ponderosa pine ecosystems*. US Forest Service Research and Development. https://www.fs.usda.gov/research/treesearch/27269

Fontaine, J. B., Donato, D. C., Robinson, W. D., Law, B. E., & Kauffman, J. B. (2009). Bird communities following high-severity fire: Response to single and repeat fires in a mixed-evergreen forest, Oregon, USA. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 257(6), 1496–1504. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2008.12.030

- Fontaine, J. B., & Kennedy, P. L. (2012). Meta-analysis of avian and small-mammal response to fire severity and fire surrogate treatments in U.S. fire-prone forests. *Ecological Applications*, *22*(5), 1547–1561. https://doi.org/10.1890/12-0009.1
- Fornwalt, P. J., Huckaby, L. S., Alton, S. K., Kaufmann, M. R., Brown, P. M., & Cheng, A. S. (2016).
 Did the 2002 Hayman Fire, Colorado, USA, Burn with Uncharacteristic Severity? *Fire Ecology*, *12*(3), 117–132. <u>https://doi.org/10.4996/fireecology.1203117</u>
- Fornwalt, P. J., Stevens-Rumann, C. S., & Collins, B. (2018). Overstory structure and surface cover dynamics in the decade following the Hayman Fire, Colorado. Forests, 9(3), 152. https://doi.org/10.3390/f9030152
- Franklin, M. J., Major, R. E., Bedward, M., Price, O., & Bradstock, R. A. (2022). Forest avifauna exhibit enduring responses to historical high-severity wildfires. *Biological Conservation*, 269, 109545. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2022.109545
- Franklin, M. J., Major, R. E., & Bradstock, R. A. (2023). Canopy cover mediates the effects of a decadal increase in time since fire on arboreal birds. *Biological Conservation*, 277, 109871. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2022.109871

- Fulé, P. Z., Covington, W. W., & Moore, M. M. (1997). Determining reference conditions for ecosystem management of Southwestern Ponderosa pine forests. *Ecological Applications*, 7(3), 895. https://doi.org/10.2307/2269441
- Ganey, J. L. (2016). Recommendations for snag retention in southwestern mixed-conifer and ponderosa pine forests: History and current status. Wildlife Society Bulletin, 40(1), 192– 201. https://doi.org/10.1002/wsb.609
- George, T. L., & Zack, S. (2008). Bird occupancy and richness in ponderosa pine forests with contrasting forest structure and fire history. *Canadian Journal of Forest Research*, 38(5), 936–942. <u>https://doi.org/10.1139/x07-238</u>
- Graham, Russell T., editor. 2003. Hayman Fire case study. General Technical Report RMRS-GTR-114. Ogden, UT: USDA Forest Service, Rocky Mountain Research Station. 396 p.
- Grissino-Mayer, H. D., & Swetnam, T. W. (2000). Century scale climate forcing of fire regimes in the American Southwest. *The Holocene*, *10*(2), 213–220.

https://doi.org/10.1191/095968300668451235

Guiterman, C. H., Gregg, R. M., Marshall, L., Beckmann, J. J., Van Mantgem, P. J., Falk, D. A.,
Keeley, J. E., Caprio, A. C., Coop, J. D., Fornwalt, P. J., Haffey, C., Hagmann, R. K., Jackson,
S. T., Lynch, A. M., Margolis, E. Q., Marks, C., Meyer, M. D., Safford, H. D., Syphard, A. D., .
. . Stevens, J. T. (2022). Vegetation type conversion in the US Southwest: frontline
observations and management responses. *Fire Ecology*, *18*(1).
https://doi.org/10.1186/s42408-022-00131-w

- Haffey, C., Sisk, T. D., Allen, C. D., Thode, A. E., & Margolis, E. Q. (2018). Limits to Ponderosa
 Pine Regeneration following Large High-Severity Forest Fires in the United States
 Southwest. *Fire Ecology*, *14*(1), 143–163. <u>https://doi.org/10.4996/fireecology.140114316</u>
- Hayes, J. J., & Robeson, S. M. (2009). Spatial variability of landscape pattern change following a Ponderosa pine wildfire in northeastern New Mexico, USA. *Physical Geography*, *30*(5), 410–429. https://doi.org/10.2747/0272-3646.30.5.410
- Hayes, J. J., & Robeson, S. M. (2011). Relationships between fire severity and post-fire
 landscape pattern following a large mixed-severity fire in the Valle Vidal, New Mexico,
 USA. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 261(8), 1392–1400.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2011.01.023
- Historical wildfire information | Fire Prevention and Control. (n.d.). https://dfpc.colorado.gov/sections/wildfire-information-center/historical-wildfireinformation
- Hoecker, T. J., & Turner, M. G. (2022). Combined effects of climate and fire-driven vegetation change constrain the distributions of forest vertebrates during the 21st century. *Diversity and Distributions*, *28*(4), 727–744. https://doi.org/10.1111/ddi.13470
- Hutto, R. L., & Patterson, D. A. (2016). Positive effects of fire on birds may appear only under narrow combinations of fire severity and time-since-fire. *International Journal of Wildland Fire*, 25(10), 1074. https://doi.org/10.1071/wf15228
- Hutto, R. L., Pletschet, S. M., & Hendricks, P. (1986). A fixed-radius point count method for nonbreeding and breeding season use. *The Auk*, *103*(3), 593–602.
 https://doi.org/10.1093/auk/103.3.593

- James, G., Witten, D., Hastie, T., & Tibshirani, R. (2013). An introduction to statistical learning. In Springer texts in statistics. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4614-7138-7</u>
- Kaufmann, M. R., Veblen, T. T., & Romme, W. H. (2006). Historical fire regimes in ponderosa pine forests of the Colorado Front Range, and recommendations for ecological restoration and fuels management. Front Range Fuels Treatment Partnership Roundtable: Findings of the Ecology Workgroup. Front Range Fuels Treatment Partnership. 14 P. Online: http://www.frftp.org/docs/pipo.pdf.
- Keele, E. C., Donovan, V. M., Roberts, C. P., Nodskov, S. M., Wonkka, C. L., Allen, C. R., Powell, L. A., Wedin, D. A., Angeler, D. G., & Twidwell, D. (2019). Relationships between Wildfire Burn Severity, Cavity-Nesting Bird Assemblages, and Habitat in an Eastern Ponderosa Pine Forest. *American Midland Naturalist*, *181*(1), 1. https://doi.org/10.1674/0003-0031-181.1.1
- Korb, J. E., Fornwalt, P. J., & Stevens-Rumann, C. S. (2019). What drives ponderosa pine regeneration following wildfire in the western United States? *Forest Ecology and Management*, 454, 117663. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2019.117663
- Kotliar, Natasha B.; Hejl, Sallie J.; Hutto, Richard L.; Saab, Victoria A.; Melcher, Cynthia P.;
 McFadzen, Mary E. 2002. Effects of fire and post-fire salvage logging on avian
 communities in conifer-dominated forests of the western United States. Pages 49-64. In:
 George, T. Luke; Dobkin, David S. (editors). Effects of Habitat Fragmentation on Birds in
 Western Landscapes: Contrasts with Paradigms from the Eastern United States. Studies in
 Avian Biology 25.

- Kotliar, N. B., Kennedy, P. L., & Ferree, K. (2007). Avifaunal Responses to Fire in Southwestern
 Montane Forests Along a Burn Severity Gradient. *Ecological Applications*, *17*(2), 491–507.
 https://doi.org/10.1890/06-0253
- Latif, Q. S., Sanderlin, J. S., Saab, V. A., Block, W. M., & Dudley, J. G. (2016). Avian relationships with wildfire at two dry forest locations with different historical fire regimes. *Ecosphere*, 7(5). https://doi.org/10.1002/ecs2.1346
- Lewis, S. A., Wu, J., & Robichaud, P. R. (2006). Assessing burn severity and comparing soil water repellency, Hayman Fire, Colorado. *Hydrological Processes*, *20*(1), 1–16.

https://doi.org/10.1002/hyp.5880

- Lyon, L. Jack; Huff, Mark H.; Hooper, Robert G.; Telfer, Edmund S.; Schreiner, David Scott; and Smith, Jane Kapler, "Wildland Fire in Ecosystems Effects of Fire on Fauna" (2000). JFSP Synthesis Reports. 7.
- MacArthur, R. H., & MacArthur, J. W. (1961). On bird species diversity. *Ecology*, *42*(3), 594–598. https://doi.org/10.2307/1932254
- MacKenzie, D. I., Nichols, J. D., Royle, J. A., Pollock, K. H., Bailey, L. L., & Hines, J. E. (2018). Basic Presence/Absence situation. In *Elsevier eBooks* (pp. 115–215).

https://doi.org/10.1016/b978-0-12-407197-1.00006-5

Mandrekar, J. N. (2010). Receiver operating characteristic curve in diagnostic test assessment. Journal of Thoracic Oncology, 5(9), 1315–1316.

https://doi.org/10.1097/jto.0b013e3181ec173d

Marshall, L., Fornwalt, P. J., Stevens-Rumann, C. S., Rodman, K. C., Rhoades, C. C., Zimlinghaus, K., Chapman, T. B., & Schloegel, C. A. (2023). North-facing aspects, shade objects, and

microtopographic depressions promote the survival and growth of tree seedlings planted after wildfire. Fire Ecology, 19(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s42408-023-00181-8

- McKinney, S. T. (2019). Systematic review and meta-analysis of fire regime research in ponderosa pine (Pinus ponderosa) ecosystems, Colorado, USA. *Fire Ecology*, *15*(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s42408-019-0056-6
- McLauchlan, K. K., Higuera, P. E., Miesel, J. R., Rogers, B. M., Schweitzer, J. A., Shuman, J. K.,
 Tepley, A. J., Varner, J. M., Veblen, T. T., Adalsteinsson, S. A., Balch, J. K., Baker, P. J.,
 Batllori, E., Bigio, E. R., Brando, P. M., Cattau, M. E., Chipman, M. L., Coen, J. L., Crandall, R.
 M., . . . Watts, A. C. (2020). Fire as a fundamental ecological process: Research advances
 and frontiers. *Journal of Ecology*, *108*(5), 2047–2069. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2745.13403
- Moore, M. M., Covington, W. W., & Fule, P. Z. (1999). Reference Conditions and Ecological Restoration: A Southwestern Ponderosa Pine Perspective. Ecological Applications, 9(4), 1266–1277. https://doi.org/10.2307/2641395
- Morris, Meredith J.; Reld, Vincent H.; Pillmore, Richard E.; Hammer, Mary C. 1977. Birds and mammals of Manitou Experimental Forest, Colorado. Gen. Tech. Rep. RM-38. Fort Collins, CO: U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Rocky Mountain Forest and Range Experiment Station. 17 p.
- Mueller, S., Thode, A. E., Margolis, E. Q., Yocom, L. L., Young, J. D., & Iniguez, J. M. (2020). Climate relationships with increasing wildfire in the southwestern US from 1984 to 2015. Forest Ecology and Management, 460, 117861.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2019.117861

Nasa, E. S. D. S. (n.d.). Forest Composition/Vegetation Structure | EarthData. Earthdata. <u>https://www.earthdata.nasa.gov/topics/biosphere/vegetation/forest-composition-</u> <u>vegetation-</u>

structure#:~:text=Vegetation%20Structure%20refers%20to%20the,ground%20(coarse%20
woody%20debris).

Odion, D. C., Hanson, C. T., Arsenault, A., Baker, W. L., DellaSala, D. A., Hutto, R. L., Klenner, W., Moritz, M. A., Sherriff, R. L., Veblen, T. T., & Williams, M. A. (2014). Examining historical and current Mixed-Severity fire regimes in Ponderosa Pine and Mixed-Conifer forests of Western North America. *PLOS ONE*, *9*(2), e87852.

https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0087852

- Oksanen J., Simpson G., Blanchet F., Kindt R., Legendre P., Minchin P., O'Hara R., Solymos P., Stevens M., Szoecs E., et al. Vegan: Community Ecology Package. R Package Version 2.6-2 April 2022. 2022. <u>http://CRAN.Rproject.org/package=vegan</u>
- O'Neil, S. T., Coates, P. S., Brussee, B. E., Ricca, M. A., Espinosa, S. P., Gardner, S., & Delehanty, D. J. (2020). Wildfire and the ecological niche: Diminishing habitat suitability for an indicator species within semi-arid ecosystems. *Global Change Biology*, *26*(11), 6296–6312. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.15300
- Parks, S. A., & Abatzoglou, J. T. (2020). Warmer and drier fire seasons contribute to increases in area burned at high severity in western US forests from 1985 to 2017. *Geophysical Research Letters*, 47(22). <u>https://doi.org/10.1029/2020gl089858</u>
- Parks, S. A., Dobrowski, S. Z., & Panunto, M. H. (2018). What drives Low-Severity fire in the southwestern USA? Forests, 9(4), 165. https://doi.org/10.3390/f9040165

Parks, S. A., Holsinger, L. M., Blankenship, K., Dillon, G. K., Goeking, S. A., & Swaty, R. (2023).
 Contemporary wildfires are more severe compared to the historical reference period in western US dry conifer forests. Forest Ecology and Management, 544, 121232.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2023.121232

Petrie, M. D., Hubbard, R. M., Bradford, J. B., Kolb, T. E., Noel, A., Schlaepfer, D. R., Bowen, M.,
Fuller, L., & Moser, W. K. (2023). Widespread regeneration failure in ponderosa pine
forests of the southwestern United States. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 545, 121208.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2023.121208

- Power, M., Fell, G., & Wright, M. (2012). Principles for high-quality, high-value testing. *Evidence-based Medicine*, *18*(1), 5–10. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/eb-2012-100645</u>
- PRISM Climate Group, Oregon State University, https://prism.oregonstate.edu, data created 4 Feb 2014, accessed 1 Aug 2023.

Rainsford, F. W., Kelly, L. T., Leonard, S., & Bennett, A. F. (2021). Post-fire habitat relationships for birds differ among ecosystems. *Biological Conservation*, 260, 109218. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2021.109218

- Ralph, C. J., Geupel, G. R., Pyle, P., Martin, T. E., & DeSante, D. F. (1993). Handbook of field methods for monitoring landbirds. https://doi.org/10.2737/psw-gtr-144
- Relationships between fire severity and post-fire landscape pattern following a large mixedseverity fire in the Valle Vidal, New Mexico, USA | FRAMES. (n.d.).

https://www.frames.gov/catalog/49410

Ralph, C. J., Sauer, J. R., & Droege, S. (1995). *Monitoring bird populations by point counts*. https://doi.org/10.2737/psw-gtr-149 Reynolds, Z. K., Boulton, R. L., & Cardillo, M. (2022). Unburnt patches maintain bird abundance and species richness following large wildfires in an Australian semiarid woodland ecosystem. *Journal of Arid Environments*, *199*, 104713.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaridenv.2022.104713

- Roberts, C. P., Donovan, V. M., Nodskov, S. M., Keele, E. B., Allen, C. R., Wedin, D. A., & Twidwell, D. (2020). Fire legacies, heterogeneity, and the importance of mixed-severity fire in ponderosa pine savannas. *Forest Ecology and Management*, *459*, 117853. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2019.117853
- Rosenstock, S. S. (1996). Habitat relationships of breeding birds in northern Arizona ponderosa pine and pine-oak forests.
- Rother, M. T., & Veblen, T. T. (2016). Limited conifer regeneration following wildfires in dry ponderosa pine forests of the Colorado Front Range. *Ecosphere*, 7(12). https://doi.org/10.1002/ecs2.1594

RPubs - NMDS ordination plotting. (n.d.). https://www.rpubs.com/RGrieger/545184

- Sanderlin, Jamie S.; Block, William M.; Strohmeyer, Brenda E. (2016). Long-term post-wildfire correlates with avian community dynamics in ponderosa pine forests Chapter J . In:
 Ralston, Barbara E., ed. Proceedings of the 12th Biennial Conference of Research on the Colorado River Plateau. Scientific Investigations Report 2015-5180. Reston, VA: U.S. Geological Survey. p. 89-101.
- Savage, M., & Mast, J. N. (2005). How resilient are southwestern ponderosa pine forests after crown fires? *Canadian Journal of Forest Research*, *35*(4), 967–977. https://doi.org/10.1139/x05-028

- Savage, Nystrom, J., & Feddema, J. (2013). Double whammy: high-severity fire and drought in ponderosa pine forests of the Southwest. *Canadian Journal of Forest Research*, 43(6), 570–583. <u>https://doi.org/10.1139/cjfr-2012-0404</u>
- Schmidt, B. R., Cruickshank, S. S., Bühler, C., & Bergamini, A. (2023). Observers are a key source of detection heterogeneity and biased occupancy estimates in species monitoring.
 Biological Conservation, 283, 110102. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2023.110102
- Siegel, R. B., DeSante, D. F., & Nott, M. P. (2001). Using point counts to establish conservation priorities: how many visits are optimal? *Journal of Field Ornithology*, 72(2), 228–235. https://doi.org/10.1648/0273-8570-72.2.228
- Singleton, M. P., Thode, A. E., Meador, A. J. S., Iniguez, J. M., & Stevens, J. T. (2021).
 Management strategy influences landscape patterns of high-severity burn patches in the southwestern United States. *Landscape Ecology*, *36*(12), 3429–3449.
 https://doi.org/10.1007/s10980-021-01318-3
- Smucker, K., Hutto, R. L., & Steele, B. M. (2005). Changes in Bird Abundance After Wildfire:
 Importance of Fire Fire Severity and Time Since Fire. *Ecological Applications*, 15(5), 1535–1549. https://doi.org/10.1890/04-1353
- Socolar, J. B., Sandoval, E. H. V., & Wilcove, D. S. (2019). Overlooked biodiversity loss in tropical smallholder agriculture. *Conservation Biology*, *33*(6), 1338–1349. https://doi.org/10.1111/cobi.13344
- Steel, Z. L., Fogg, A. M., Burnett, R. D., Roberts, L. J., & Safford, H. D. (2021). When bigger isn't better—Implications of large high-severity wildfire patches for avian diversity and

community composition. *Diversity and Distributions*, 28(3), 439–453.

https://doi.org/10.1111/ddi.13281

- Stevens-Rumann, C. S., Kemp, K. B., Higuera, P. E., Harvey, B., Rother, M. T., Donato, D. C.,
 Morgan, P., & Veblen, T. T. (2017). Evidence for declining forest resilience to wildfires
 under climate change. Ecology Letters, 21(2), 243–252. https://doi.org/10.1111/ele.12889
- Stillman, A. N., Siegel, R. B., Wilkerson, R. L., Johnson, M. D., & Tingley, M. W. (2019). Agedependent habitat relationships of a burned forest specialist emphasise the role of
 pyrodiversity in fire management. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, *56*(4), 880–890.
 https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2664.13328
- Stillman, A. N., Wilkerson, R. L., Kaschube, D. R., Siegel, R. B., Sawyer, S. C., & Tingley, M. W. (2023). Incorporating pyrodiversity into wildlife habitat assessments for rapid post-fire management: A woodpecker case study. *Ecological Applications*, 33(4). https://doi.org/10.1002/eap.2853
- Swetnam, T. W., & Baisan, C. H. (1996). Historical Fire Regime Patterns in the Southwestern United States Since AD 1700. USDA Forest Service - General Technical Report RMRS-GTR, 11–32. https://digitalcommons.usu.edu/barkbeetles/85/

Szaro, R. C. (1982). Selection and monitoring of avian indicator species. Rocky Mountain Forest and Range Experiment Station, Forest Service, U.S. Department of Agriculture. https://books.google.com/books?hl=en&lr=&id=5UAh40XN-U4C&oi=fnd&dq=pygmy+nuthatch+indicator+species&ots=tEeg05qixl&sig=iRijpVQDSGNu
Ppmeh KgWpjdcoM

- Taillie, P. J., Burnett, R. D., Roberts, L. J., Campos, B. R., Peterson, M. N., & Moorman, C. E. (2018). Interacting and non-linear avian responses to mixed-severity wildfire and time since fire. *Ecosphere*, 9(6). https://doi.org/10.1002/ecs2.2291
- Tingley, M. W., Ruiz-Gutierrez, V., Wilkerson, R. L., Howell, C. A., & Siegel, R. B. (2016). Pyrodiversity promotes avian diversity over the decade following forest fire. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, *283*(1840), 20161703.

https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2016.1703

- Van Lear, D. H., & Harlow, R. F. (2002). Fire in the eastern United States: influence on wildlife habitat. In: Ford, W. Mark; Russell, Kevin R.; Moorman, Christopher E., Eds. Proceedings:
 The Role of Fire for Nongame Wildlife Management and Community Restoration:
 Traditional Uses and New Directions. Gen. Tech. Rep. NE-288. Newtown Square, PA: U.S.
 Dept. Of Agriculture, Forest Service, Northeastern Research Station. 2-10., 288.
- Veech, J. A. (2021). Habitat Ecology and Analysis. In Oxford University Press eBooks. https://doi.org/10.1093/oso/9780198829287.001.0001
- Vierling, K. T., & Lentile, L. B. (2008). Indirect effects of fire severity on avian communities in Ponderosa Pine and Aspen forests in Western North America: a review. *Fire Ecology*, 4(2), 133–149. https://doi.org/10.4996/fireecology.0402133
- Vogeler, J. C., Hudak, A. T., Vierling, L. A., & Vierling, K. T. (2013). Lidar-Derived canopy architecture predicts brown creeper occupancy of two western coniferous forests. *The Condor*, *115*(3), 614–622. <u>https://doi.org/10.1525/cond.2013.110082</u>
- Vogeler, J. C., Yang, Z., & Cohen, W. B. (2016). Mapping suitable Lewis's woodpecker nesting habitat in a Post-Fire landscape. Northwest Science, 90(4), 421–432. https://doi.org/10.3955/046.090.0404
- Walker, R. B., Coop, J. D., Downing, W. M., Krawchuk, M. A., Malone, S. L., & Meigs, G. W. (2019). How much forest persists through fire? High-Resolution mapping of tree cover to characterize the abundance and spatial pattern of fire refugia across mosaics of burn severity. *Forests*, *10*(9), 782. https://doi.org/10.3390/f10090782
- Watson, S. J., Taylor, R. S., Nimmo, D. G., Kelly, L. T., Clarke, M. F., & Bennett, A. F. (2012). The influence of unburnt patches and distance from refuges on post-fire bird communities.
 Animal Conservation, 15(5), 499–507. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-1795.2012.00542.x
- White, A. M., Manley, P. N., Tarbill, G. L., Richardson, T. L., Russell, R. E., Safford, H. D., &
 Dobrowski, S. Z. (2015). Avian community responses to post-fire forest structure:
 implications for fire management in mixed conifer forests. *Animal Conservation*, *19*(3),
 256–264. https://doi.org/10.1111/acv.12237
- Wood, E. M., Pidgeon, A. M., Radeloff, V. C., & Keuler, N. S. (2013). Image texture predicts avian density and species richness. *PLOS ONE*, *8*(5), e63211.

https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0063211

Woolet, J., Stevens-Rumann, C. S., Coop, J. D., & Pejchar, L. (2023). A bird's eye view of ecosystem conversion: Examining the resilience of piñon-juniper woodlands and their avian communities in the face of fire regime change. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 546, 121368. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2023.121368

- Woolman, A. M., Coop, J. D., Shaw, J. D., & DeMarco, J. (2022). Extent of recent fire-induced losses of ponderosa pine forests of Arizona and New Mexico, USA. *Forest Ecology and Management*, *520*, 120381. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2022.120381
- Zlonis, E. J., Walton, N. G., Sturtevant, B. R., Wolter, P. T., & Niemi, G. J. (2019). Burn severity and heterogeneity mediate avian response to wildfire in a hemiboreal forest. *Forest Ecology and Management, 439*, 70–80. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2019.02.043